
Page 1 of 2 
 

 
 

 
On March 20, 2020, City Manager Gregory Rose declared a State of Emergency for the City of University City due to 
the COVID-19 Pandemic.  Due to the ongoing efforts to limit the spread of the COVID-19 virus, in compliance with St. 
Louis County’s public health order mask are required.   
To provide for social distancing during Council meetings in-person public attendance will be limited to the first 25 
people. 
 
Citizen may also observe the Meeting via Live Stream on YouTube: 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCyN1EJ_-Q22918E9EZimWoQ 
 

A.    MEETING CALLED TO ORDER 

B. ROLL CALL 

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

D. PROCLAMATION 
None 
 

E. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
1. October 25, 2021 – Regular Draft Minutes 
2. November 8, 2021 – Study Session Draft Minutes – Purchasing Policy 
3. November 8, 2021 – Regular Draft Minutes 

 
F. APPOINTMENTS to BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 

1. Michael Honigfort is nominated to the Board of Adjustments as a fill in replacing Erica Hackett’s vacated 
seat by Mayor Terry Crow 
 

G. SWEARING IN TO BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 
1. Mark Barnes was sworn in to the Library Board on November 11, 2021 via Zoom 
2. Timothy Schmalz was sworn in to the Green Practices Commission on November 11, 2021 in the Clerk’s 

office 
 

H. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION (Total of 15 minutes allowed) 
Request to Address the Council Forms are located on the ledge just inside the entrance.  Please complete and place 
the form in the basket at the front of the room. 

 
Citizen may provide written comments ahead of the meeting; they must be received no later than 12:00 p.m. the day of 
the meeting.  Comments may be sent via email to:  councilcomments@ucitymo.org, or mailed to the City Hall – 6801 
Delmar Blvd. – Attention City Clerk.  Such comments will be provided to City Council prior to the meeting.  Comments will 
be made a part of the official record and made accessible to the public online following the meeting. A name and address 
must be provided.  Please also note if your comment is on an agenda or non-agenda item. If a name and address are not 
provided, the provided comment will not be recorded in the official record. 
 

I. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
1. Crown Center 2nd Amended Final Redevelopment Plan - 8348 - 8350 Delcrest  

 
J. CONSENT AGENDA 

1. EMS/Training Officer Response Vehicle 
2. Insurance Recovery Money for Truck Equipment and Tools – Fire Department 
3. Golf Programming Services Agreement 
4. Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA)-compliant Curb Ramp Designs Contract Approval 

 
 

MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
CITY HALL, Fifth Floor 

 6801 Delmar Blvd. 
University City, Missouri 63130 
Monday, November 22, 2021 

6:30 p.m. 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCyN1EJ_-Q22918E9EZimWoQ
mailto:councilcomments@ucitymo.org


Page 2 of 2 
 

K. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
1. Market at Olive Update 
2. American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) Consulting Services Engagement Letter 
3. Trail Naming Policy  

 
L. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

1. Bill 9448 – AN ORDINANCE APPROVING THE SECOND AMENDED FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
FOR THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT TO CROWN CENTER FOR SENIOR LIVING LOCATED AT 
8348 – 8350 DELCREST DRIVE IN THE PD-M PLANNED DEVELOPMENT MIXED-USE ZONING 
DISTRICT. 
 

M. NEW BUSINESS 
Resolutions 

1. Resolution 2021-17 Amendment A Resolution Expanding the Community Visioning 2040 Task Force to 
Include a School District of University City Representative. 

Bills 
2. Bill 9449 – AN ORDINANCE FIXING THE COMPENSATION TO BE PAID TO CITY OFFICIALS AND 

EMPLOYEES AS ENUMERATED HEREIN FROM AND AFTER JANUARY 2, 2022, AND REPEALING 
ORDINANCE NO. 7165 EFFECTIVE JANUARY 2, 2022.  
 

3. Bill 9450 – AN ORDINANCE IMPOSING AN ADDITIONAL ONE-FOURTH OF ONE PERCENT SALES 
TAX ON ALL RETAIL SALES MADE IN THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI WHICH ARE 
SUBJECT TO TAXATION PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF SECTIONS 144.010 TO 144.525 
RSMO, FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROVIDING REVENUES FOR THE OPERATION OF THE 
UNIVERSITY CITY FIRE DEPARTMENT, AND PROVIDING FOR THE SUBMISSION OF A 
PROPOSITION AUTHORIZING SUCH TAX TO THE QUALIFIED VOTERS AT THE GENERAL 
MUNICIPAL ELECTION ON APRIL 5, 2022. 

 
N. COUNCIL REPORTS/BUSINESS 

1. Boards and Commission appointments needed 
2. Council liaison reports on Boards and Commissions 
3. Boards, Commissions and Task Force minutes 
4. Other Discussions/Business 

 
O. CITIZEN PARTICIPATON (continue if needed) 

 
P. COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 
Q. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Placeholder 
Motion to go into a Closed Session according to Missouri Revised Statutes 610.021 (1) Legal actions, causes 
of action or litigation involving a public governmental body and any confidential or privileged communications 
between a public governmental body or its representatives or attorneys. 

 
R. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 
Posted 19th day of November 2021. 
 
LaRette Reese 
City Clerk 

 



Page 1 of 8 

A. MEETING CALLED TO ORDER
At the Regular Session of the City Council of University City held via videoconference, on Monday,
October 25, 2021, Mayor Terry Crow called the meeting to order at 6:37 p.m.

B. ROLL CALL
In addition to the Mayor, the following members of Council were present:

Councilmember Stacy Clay 
Councilmember Aleta Klein 
Councilmember Steven McMahon 
Councilmember Jeffrey Hales 
Councilmember Tim Cusick 
Councilmember Bwayne Smotherson 

Also in attendance were City Manager, Gregory Rose; City Attorney, John F. Mulligan, Jr., Director 
of Public Works, Sinan Alpaslan, and Director of Finance, Keith Cole. 

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
Councilmember Klein moved to approve the Agenda as presented, seconded by Councilmember
Clay, and the motion carried unanimously.

D. PROCLAMATION
1. A Proclamation honoring Arts and Letters Returning Artist – Daniel “Danny” J. DuMaine

E. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
1. October 11, 2021, Regular Session Minutes was moved by Councilmember Hales, seconded

by Councilmember Clay, and the motion carried unanimously.

F. APPOINTMENTS TO BOARDS & COMMISSIONS
1. Dr. Timothy Schmalz is nominated to the Green Practices Commission as a fill-in replacing Liz

Essman’s expired term by Councilmember Aleta Klein, seconded by Councilmember Cusick,
and the motion carried unanimously.

2. Linda Jones is nominated to the Arts and Letters Commission as a fill-in replacing Lauren
Masterson vacated seat by Mayor Terry Crow, seconded by Councilmember Smotherson, and
the motion carried unanimously.

G. SWEARING IN TO BOARDS & COMMISSIONS
1. Bethany Gasparovic was sworn into the Civil Service Board via Zoom on October 12, 2021.
2. Mathew Emden was sworn into Green Practices Commission via Zoom on October 13, 2021.
3. Meg Zelenovich was sworn into the Arts and Letters Commission on October 15, 2021, in the

Clerk’s office.
4. Larry Zelenovich was sworn into the Traffic Commission via Zoom on October 13, 2021.
5. Christopher Trahan was sworn into the Historic Preservation Commission on October 18, 2021,

in the Clerk’s office.

MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
VIA VIDEOCONFERENCE – ZOOM 

Monday, October 25, 2021 
6:30 p.m. 

E - 1 - 1



Page 2 of 8 

6. Aaron Bitzer was sworn into the Urban Forestry Commission on October 19,  2021, in the
Clerk’s office.

H. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION
Procedures for submitting comments for Citizen Participation and Public Hearings:
ALL written comments must be received no later than 12:00 p.m. the day of the meeting.  Comments may be sent via
email to: councilcomments@ucitymo.org, or mailed to the City Hall – 6801 Delmar Blvd. – Attention City Clerk.  Such
comments will be provided to City Council prior to the meeting.  Comments will be made a part of the official record and
made accessible to the public online following the meeting.

Please note, when submitting your comments, a name and address must be provided.  Also, note if your comment is
on an agenda or non-agenda item. If a name and address are not provided, the submitted comment will not be recorded
in the official record.

Mayor Crow thanked citizens for taking the time to submit their written comments.  All comments 
meeting the aforementioned guidelines have been made a part of this record.   

I. PUBLIC HEARINGS
None

J. CONSENT AGENDA
1. Tree Inventory Agreement
2. Tub Grinding Agreement

Councilmember Hales moved to approve Items 1 and 2 of the Consent Agenda, seconded by 
Councilmember Clay, and the motion carried unanimously. 

Mr. Rose stated the City is still experiencing staffing shortages for Centennial Commons and staff is 
diligently working to get those positions filled. 

K. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT
1. FY2022 - First Quarter Financial Report

Mr. Rose announced that Mr. Cole would be presenting this report to Council. 

Mr. Cole stated this presentation addresses the City's major funds from July 1, 2021, through 
September 30, 2021. 

General Fund - Revenues 
Adjusted Budget $23,347,415 
YTD Actual $2,967,615 
Actual as % of Adjusted Budget 12.7% 
Increase/(Decrease) compared to 
 same quarter of FY2021 $407,315 
Key Points: 
 Increase in Sales and Use Tax of roughly $110,000, or 15.7%.
 Increase in Services Charges of roughly $136,000, or 139.3%.; (mainly from Ambulance

Services).
 Increase in Municipal Court & Parking of roughly $48,000, or 50.7%; (mainly due to the

reopening of in-person court proceedings).
 Increase in Miscellaneous Revenue of roughly $127,000, or 108.8%.; (mainly due to the

receipt of a health plan surplus distribution from St. Louis Area Insurance Trust).
 The bulk of property tax revenue the City receives will come during December 2021 and

January 2022.

E - 1 - 2

mailto:councilcomments@ucitymo.org


 

Page 3 of 8 
 

Overall, revenues as a percent of the budget show a slight increase of 2.3% when compared to the 
same quarter of FY21. 
 
General Fund - Expenditures 
Adjusted Budget     $26,535,735 
YTD Actual      $5,364,736 
Actual as % of Adjusted Budget   20.2% 
Increase/(Decrease) compared to 
 same quarter of FY2021    $454,190 
Key Points: 
 Increase in expenditures in Police Department of roughly $165,000, or 8.8% compared to the 

same quarter of FY21; (mainly from full-time and overtime salaries).   
 Increase in expenditures in Fire Department of roughly $70,000, or 6.2% compared to the 

same quarter of FY21; (mainly from overtime and Property and Auto Insurance). 
 Increase in expenditures in Planning & Development Department of roughly $83,000, or 32.2% 

compared to the same quarter of FY21; (mainly from the implementation of SmartGov 
software).   

 
Overall, expenditures as a percent of the budget increased slightly by 0.5% when compared to the 
same quarter of FY2021. 
 
Capital Improvement Sales Tax - Revenue 
Adjusted Budget     $2,102,000  
YTD Actual      $284,700  
Actual as % of Adjusted Budget   13.5%  
Increase/(Decrease) compared to  
   same quarter of FY2021    $42,320 
Key Points: 
 Sales Tax revenue increased roughly 3.4% during the 1st Quarter of FY2022, compared to the 

same quarter of FY21. 
 
Capital Improvement Sales Tax - Expenditures 
Adjusted Budget     $2,139,255  
YTD Actual      $83,466  
Actual as % of Adjusted Budget   3.9%  
Increase/(Decrease) compared to 
   same quarter of FY2021    $34,988  
Key Points: 
 Increase in expenditures is mainly from the purchase of the 6th Nissan Leaf Electric Vehicle. 

 
Parks and Stormwater Sales Tax - Revenue 
Adjusted Budget     $861,000 
YTD Actual      $80,136  
Actual as % of Adjusted Budget   9.3%  
Increase/(Decrease) compared to 
   same quarter of FY2021    ($49,767) 
Key Points: 
 Sales Tax revenue for the first quarter of FY2022 has shown a decrease of roughly 38% when 

compared to the same quarter of FY2021.  
 
Parks and Stormwater Sales Tax - Expenditures 
Adjusted Budget     $937,570  
YTD Actual      $32,516  

E - 1 - 3



 

Page 4 of 8 
 

Actual as % of Adjusted Budget   3.5%  
Increase/(Decrease) compared to  
   same quarter of FY2021    $(41,712)  
Key Points: 
 Decrease in expenditures due to some of the capital projects that were not commenced during 

the 1st quarter.    
 
Public Safety Sales Tax - Revenue 
Adjusted Budget     $2,101,500 
YTD Actual      $210,972  
Actual as % of Adjusted Budget   10.0%  
Increase/(Decrease) compared to  
 same quarter of FY2021    $4,387  
Key Points: 
 The 1st quarter revenue of FY22 appears to be in line when compared to the 1st quarter of 

FY2021.   
 
Public Safety Sales Tax - Expenditures 
Adjusted Budget     $608,835  
YTD Actual      $147,726  
Actual as % of Adjusted Budget   24.3%  
Increase/(Decrease) compared to 
same quarter of FY2021    ($85,860) 
Key Points: 
 The decrease in expenditures as compared to FY2021 is due to the purchase of police 

vehicles that occurred in the 1st quarter of FY21.  A hold has been placed on the purchase of 
vehicles for FY22 due to production slowdowns.  

 
Councilmember Clay asked if there was a sunset for when the American Rescue and Recovery Act 
Funds had to be used?  Mr. Rose stated he believes that the City has a year to identify how the funds 
will be spent, and an additional year to use them.  This will be the same process for the second 
allocation, which is anticipated one year after the first allocation was received.  Councilmember Clay 
asked if the dollars had already been encumbered?  Mr. Rose stated the bulk of the funds were 
budgeted as a part of the FY22 Annual Operating Budget.  However, since the City received more 
funding than it anticipated, and staff has not received a cost-of-living allowance for several years if 
approved by Council, he intends to explore using a portion of the funds to cover public safety 
employees. 
 
Mayor Crow asked Mr. Rose if he was the point person for making sure all of the funds will be 
utilized?  Mr. Rose stated that is correct.  In fact, he and Mr.  
 
Cole have discussed bringing an auditor on board to ensure that the City complies with the stringent 
criteria for the use of these funds. 
 
Councilmember McMahon asked if there would be a document produced to track how this money is 
being allocated?  Mr. Rose stated included in the Annual Operating Budget is a separate fund 
established for the American Rescue and Recovery Act Funds. 
 
Mayor Crow asked why the City had received a reimbursement from the St. Louis Area Insurance 
Trust?  Mr. Rose stated each year the Trust conducts a review of the amount paid in versus the City's 
experience rating.  The City has been fortunate in that its rating has gone down, which resulted in the 
reimbursement.   
 

E - 1 - 4



 

Page 5 of 8 
 

Mr. Rose stated he attributes the reduction in accidents to the implementation of a Safety Program. 
Mayor Crow asked if the Trust was comprised of the City's Health Insurance, Workers Comp, or 
Liability Insurance? Mr. Rose stated he believes it is a combination of Health Insurance and Workers 
Comp.  
 

2. MSD Operations, Maintenance and Construction Improvements (OMCI) Application (1300 
Waldon Ave.) 

 
Mr. Rose stated staff is recommending that Council consider approving the OMCI Application for 1300 
Waldon. 
 
Mr. Alpaslan stated the funds for this application to alleviate a stormwater concern on Wellington 
Avenue near Waldon Avenue; specifically, the property located at 1300 Waldon is eligible under the 
4th quarter of this OMCI Program. 
 This nuisance was brought to staff's attention, who determined that it was being caused by a 
surface spring crossing from north to south which was carrying stormwater into several backyards in 
the 1300 blocks of Waldon and Purdue, ultimately ending at 1300 Waldon.  The homeowners tried 
several measures to alleviate this stormwater from on their property, but once it entered the public 
right-of-way there was no reasonable way to rectify the problem.   
 The proposal is to intercept the flow from 1300 Waldon and run it into a combined sewer inlet 
that MSD has preliminarily agreed to connect.  Staff has developed a plan and cost estimate of 
$15,000, which will be submitted to MSD during the first week of November for consideration by 
MSD's Board of Directors.  The initial funding for this project will be disbursed from the Parks and 
Stormwater Sales Tax Fund Reserves, and upon completion, will be reimbursed by MSD.   
 
Councilmember Clay thanked Mr. Alpaslan for getting to the bottom of what was causing this issue, 
which has been frustrating for everyone living in the area.   Councilmember Clay asked Mr. Alpaslan if 
a timeline had been established for when the actual work would begin?  Mr. Alpaslan stated although 
the funding is readily available, it is anticipated to take until the beginning of the calendar year to 
acquire the necessary approval from MSD's Board.  Once approval is obtained, the execution of this 
project should begin by next spring.  
 
Councilmember Smotherson stated he would also like to thank Mr. Alpaslan for working to address 
this constant problem that has been producing wet streets even when there is dry weather.   
 
Councilmember Hales stated although his question is not related to this item, he was curious to find 
out when the repaving season for streets on this year's schedule ends?   
 
 
Mr. Alpaslan stated the paving season has already ended and the remainder of this work is scheduled 
for March through October of next year.  During the interim, staff will be preparing sidewalks and curb 
ramps so they will be ready for next year's work.  
 
Councilmember Clay moved to approve, seconded by Councilmember Smotherson, and the motion 
carried unanimously. 

 
L. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

None 
 
 
 
 

E - 1 - 5



 

Page 6 of 8 
 

M. NEW BUSINESS 
Resolutions   

1.  Resolution 2021-16:  Budget Amendment #1 – FY22-23. 
 

Councilmember Clay moved to approve, seconded by Councilmember McMahon, and the motion 
carried unanimously. 
 
Mr. Rose stated he intends to provide an overview of Bill 9446 during Council's November 8th 
meeting, to ensure there is a clear understanding of the impacts. 

 
  Bills 
  Introduced by Councilmember Hales 

1.  BILL 9446 - AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST INDENTURE 
IN CONNECTION WITH THE TAX INCREMENT REVENUE NOTES (OLIVE BOULEVARD 
COMMERCIAL CORRIDOR AND RESIDENTIAL CONSERVATION REDEVELOPMENT 
PROJECT AREA 1), SERIES A AND B, OF THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, 
AND APPROVING CERTAIN ACTIONS RELATING THERETO.  Bill Number 9446 was read 
for the first time. 

 
  Introduced by Councilmember Cusick 

2.  BILL 9447 – AN ORDINANCE FIXING THE COMPENSATION TO BE PAID TO CITY 
OFFICIALS AND EMPLOYEES AS ENUMERATED HEREIN FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, AND REPEALING ORDINANCE NO. 7164; CONTAINING AN EMERGENCY 
CLAUSE.  Bill Number 9447 was read for the first time, and according to the emergency 
clause, was read for the second and third time.   

 
Councilmember Klein moved to approve, seconded by Councilmember McMahon. 
 
Mayor Crow asked Mr. Rose why Bill Number 9447 required an emergency clause?  Mr. Rose stated 
he has identified a candidate to fill the position of Senior Planner and would like to complete the hiring 
process as soon as possible. 
 
Roll Call Vote Was: 
Ayes:  Councilmember Hales, Councilmember Cusick, Councilmember Smotherson, Councilmember 
Clay, Councilmember Klein, Councilmember McMahon, and Mayor Crow. 
Nays:  None. 
 

N. COUNCIL REPORTS/BUSINESS 
1. Boards and Commission appointments needed 
2. Council liaison reports on Boards and Commissions 

Councilmember Smotherson reminded everyone about the Returning Artist Event.  This year 
there will not be a reception for Danny due to COVID, but he will be working with the elementary, 
middle, and high school music students in a series of sessions and masterclasses during 
American Education Week; November 8th through the 12th. 
 
Councilmember Klein stated members of the Senior Commission completed a successful event 
that provided Farmer's Market vouchers to U City seniors. 
 
Mayor Crow stated this Saturday a portion of Delmar will be closed for several activities being 
sponsored by the LSBD. 
 
 

E - 1 - 6



 

Page 7 of 8 
 

3. Boards, Commissions, and Task Force minutes 
4. Other Discussions/Business 

 
O. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION (continue if needed) 

P. COUNCIL COMMENTS 

Q. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Motion to go into a Closed Session according to Missouri Revised Statutes 610.021 (1) Legal 
actions, causes of action or litigation involving a public governmental body and any confidential or 
privileged communications between a public governmental body or its representatives or attorneys. 
 

Councilmember Hales moved to close the Regular Session and go into an Executive Session, 
seconded by Councilmember McMahon. 
 
Roll Call Vote Was: 
Ayes:  Councilmember Clay, Councilmember Klein, Councilmember McMahon, Councilmember 
Hales, Councilmember Cusick, Councilmember Smotherson, and Mayor Crow. 
Nays:  None. 
 

R. ADJOURNMENT   
Mayor Crow thanked the public and Ms. Schaeffer for their participation at tonight's meeting and 
closed the Regular Session at 7:11 p.m. to go into an Executive Session. The Executive Session 
reconvened in an open session at 8:09 p.m. 

 
Linda Schaeffer,  
Acting City Clerk 

 
 
 

E - 1 - 7



 

Page 8 of 8 
 

 
 
 
 

 

E - 1 - 8



Page 1 of 6 

STUDY SESSION 
OF THE  

UNIVERSITY CITY COUNCIL 
CITY HALL, FIFTH FLOOR 

6801 Delmar Blvd., University City, Missouri 63130 
Monday, November 8, 2021 

5:30 p.m. 

On March 20, 2020, City Manager Gregory Rose declared a State of Emergency for the City of 
University City due to the COVID-19 Pandemic. Due to the ongoing efforts to limit the spread of the 
COVID-19 virus, those who are not fully vaccinated are asked to wear face coverings. To provide for 
social distancing during Council meetings in-person public attendance will be limited to the first 25 
people. 

AGENDA  
Requested by the City Manager 

1. MEETING CALLED TO ORDER
At the Study Session of the City Council of University City held on Monday, November
8, 2021, Mayor Terry Crow called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m.

In addition to the Mayor, the following members of Council were present:

Councilmember Stacy Clay 
Councilmember Aleta Klein 
Councilmember Steven McMahon 
Councilmember Jeffrey Hales 
Councilmember Tim Cusick 
Councilmember Bwayne Smotherson 

Also in attendance were City Manager, Gregory Rose; Attorney, John F. Mulligan, Jr., 
and Director of Finance, Keith Cole. 

2. CHANGES TO REGULAR AGENDA
(No changes requested)

3. PURCHASING POLICY UPDATE

Mr. Rose stated Mr. Cole will be providing Council with a presentation on the City's
Purchasing Policy for its review and guidance moving forward.

Mission:
 To generate fair and open competition to receive the best prices, terms, and

conditions on purchases for the City.
Purpose: 
 Establish a policy for purchasing guidelines that will ensure the City of University

City receives maximum value for every public dollar spent. This policy will clarify
purchasing functions and outline purchasing regulations, as well as describe
departmental responsibilities and participation in the procurement process.

E - 2 - 1



Page 2 of 6 

 Vision:  
 To serve the citizens and customers of the City through greater efficiencies, both in

terms of economy and services, and the procurement of quality supplies,
equipment, and services.

Goals: 
The basic goals of the purchasing policy are: 

1. To comply with federal, state, and local statutes of public purchasing.
2. Ensure the integrity of public procurement.
3. Coordinate purchasing functions between various departments.
4. To receive maximum value for each public dollar spent by awarding purchases to

the lowest responsible bidder, taking into consideration quality, past performance,
technical support, and other relevant factors. Competitive prices should be secured
whenever and wherever feasible.

5. Ensure consistent use of the purchasing procedures.
6. To provide each department with the goods, equipment, and services, at the time

and place needed, and in the proper quantity and quality.

What is Purchasing? 
 Purchasing is the process of identifying, selecting, and buying goods and services.

Purchases are to be made as economically as possible within an acceptable time
frame and meet the standards of quality and service required for your department.

Why do we have a Purchasing Division? 
 The purpose of the Purchasing Division is to aid City departments in securing the

best goods and services in the most economical and efficient way and to handle all
purchases in a manner that ensures competitive bidding between potential
vendors and contractors.

Why do we need a Purchasing Policy? 
 Purchasing and accounting of the goods and services of a municipality can be

numerous and complex. To comply with statutes and ordinances governing the
City and to comply with an established system of internal controls.

Purchasing Agent: 
 The City Manager, pursuant to the City’s Charter and City Council, has appointed

purchasing authority and responsibilities to the Purchasing Agent. The Purchasing
Agent is an employee of the Finance Department. (R.O. 2011 §2.10.040; Code
1950 §202.3; Prior Code §2-17)

Requisitions: 
 A Requisition is purchasing authority to initiate the procurement process. Each

department has a designee who enters their Requisitions into the accounting
software. All Requisitions must be approved by the Department Director.

Purchase Orders: 
 The Purchase Order is the formal offer to buy specified commodities, materials,

equipment, or service. Upon acceptance by the vendor, the Purchase Order
becomes a legal and binding document obligating the City.

E - 2 - 2



Page 3 of 6 

General Guidelines: 
 Purchases for personal use by employees of the City are prohibited. City

employees are also prohibited from using the City’s name or the employee’s
position to obtain special consideration in personal purchases.

 All employees of the City of University City have chosen to serve the public and
therefore shall not accept, grant, or be influenced in their duties by any offer of
payment, gift, or favor from any source other than their compensation from the
City.

Conflict of Interests: (Chapter 210, RSMo) 
 No officer or employee of the City shall participate in a contract for supplies or

services when that person knows the officer, employee or any member of the
officer’s or employee’s immediate family has a financial interest pertaining to the
contract; or

 A business or organization in which the officer, employee, or any member of the
officers or employee’s immediate family, has a financial interest pertaining to the
contract.

Cooperative Procurement Programs/Contracts: 
 Departments are encouraged to use Cooperative Purchasing Contracts such as

those available through the State of Missouri. These contracts allow the City to
purchase items that other governmental agencies have secured through a
competitively bidding process. St. Louis County and the State of Missouri offer
various contracts to participating municipalities permitting procurement from
vendors with whom they hold contracts.

Competitive Bidding:  
 Before any purchases are made, ample opportunity shall be given for competitive

bidding; i.e., RFP(s) and RFQ(s).

Emergency Purchases:  
 Purchases of supplies and or services whose immediate procurement is essential

to protect life or property. Emergency purchases should be kept to a minimum.
Department Directors are authorized to make emergency purchases, provided
prior approval of the Purchasing Agent has been obtained.

 The City Manager is authorized to approve contracts for professional services
under $25,000. Contracts exceeding $25,000 require a formal Request for
Proposal (RFP), or Request for Qualifications (RFQ), to be prepared and requires
City Council approval.

NEW POLICY - Minority/Women-Owned Business Enterprises: 
The City will cause its vendors, contractors, and subcontractors to take good-faith actions 
to achieve the M/WBE contract requirement.  

Personnel Requirements for Contractors with the City: 
1. Any person, firm, or corporation contracting with the City to provide services such

as but not limited to, technical/professional services, street repairs, supplies,
building maintenance, at a cost to the City of fifty thousand dollars ($50,000.00)

E - 2 - 3



Page 4 of 6 

or more and involving ten (10) or more employees in the workforce providing the 
contracted services, shall, as a condition precedent to the rendition of such 
services, certify by affidavit filed with the said City that at least twenty percent 
(20%) of the workforce providing the contracted services shall consist of workers 
generally classified as members of minorities and/or female workers.  

2. Any person, firm, or corporation contracting with the City to provide services
involving payment of one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000.00) or more in
which there are two (2) or more subcontractors shall agree with the City that at
least fifteen percent (15%) of the total amount of the City's contract shall be
allocated to subcontractors who employ workers generally classified as members
of minorities and/or female workers.

 Two of the City's current contractors, Highland Construction and Trivers have met
the above requirements.

Personnel Requirements for Employees and Owners: 
1. As many as possible of the City contracts over one thousand dollars ($1,000.00)

shall be entered into with the following:
a) Individuals generally classified as members of minorities and/or female; and
b) Firms consisting of individuals generally classified as members of minorities

and/or female; and
c) Corporations, the stock of which is owned by the individuals generally

classified as members of minorities and/or females.
2. The City Manager shall take all reasonable steps to achieve compliance with this

Section.
3. All minority and/or female firms, corporations, or individuals shall file an affidavit

with the City, prior to commencing work, that they are a minority and/or female
firm, corporation, or individual.

Purchasing Guidelines: 
1. Purchases under $1,999 can be purchased with a department-issued credit card in

lieu of a Purchase Order unless required by the vendor. In these instances, the
Department Director needs to be notified of these purchases, and the Department
Director should designate employees who will be allowed to make these
purchases.

2. Purchases of goods or services that equal or exceed $2,000 require a Purchase
Order; except for, City Council approved service contracts, Intergovernmental
Agreements, insurance, banking/investment transactions, land acquisitions, lease
payments, utilities, debt service, payroll (benefits, checks, taxes, and deductions),
professional services as defined, and maintenance contracts associated with
copyrighted software that has already been purchased by the City.

3. Purchases between $2,000 to $14,999.99 must have a minimum of three written
bids to be solicited either through phone, mail, e-mail, or fax. These bids must be
attached to the Requisition when entered in the financial management system as
bids, uploaded documents, or notes.

E - 2 - 4



 

Page 5 of 6 
 

If the department is unable to secure three verbal or written bids, or the bids were 
not returned, please add that to the notes of the Requisition when it is entered into 
the financial management system. 

 
4. Purchases between $15,000 to $24,999.00 require a minimum of three written bids 

to be solicited. The departments are reminded that the use of written bids requires 
appropriate planning to ensure that adequate time is available to satisfy the 
purchasing requirements. These bids must be attached to the Requisitions when 
entered in the financial management system as bids, uploaded documents, or 
notes. 

 
5. Purchases $25,000 and over must be advertised and requested as sealed bids. 

The number of publications depends on the requirements of the funds, i.e., certain 
grants require more than one publication and place a condition on which 
publications can be used. These purchases are subject to City Council approval. 
(R.O. 2011 §2.10.060; Ord. No. 6715 §1, 2007)  
 

6. All capital improvement projects require a Purchase Order.  
 
Unauthorized Purchases and Purchasing Ethics: 
 No employee has the authority to enter contractual relationships for the City 

without prior approval of the Purchasing Agent.  
 No employee of the City or their immediate families shall have any financial 

interest in the award of a contract or purchase. All employees of the City shall keep 
themselves free of obligation by refusing to accept any significant gifts or 
entertainment by any of the present or potential vendors to the City.  

 
Terms and Conditions of the Invitation for Bids: 
 The right is reserved as the interest of the City may require rejecting any bid or all 

bids and to waive any minor informality or irregularity regarding bids received.  
 The City may make an award on any item for a quantity less than the quantity bid. 
 The City shall award a contract while conforming to the specifications and 

requirements whose bid will be most economically advantageous to the City.  
 
Councilmember Clay posed the following questions to Mr. Cole:  
Q.  Does U City provide any preferences for businesses located within their 
jurisdiction?  
A.  Although it was not highlighted in tonight's presentation, jurisdictional preferences are 
included within the details of this policy.  
Q.  Does the new policy regarding minority/women-owned business enterprises 
need to be approved by Council?  
A.  My understanding is that this updated policy needs to be affirmed by Council. 
 
Councilmember Cusick posed the following questions to Mr. Cole: 
Q.  Are both the Police and Fire Departments governed by this policy?  
A.  Yes.  
Q.  Is the Library or other political subdivisions of the City, like the LSBD and 
Parkview Gardens governed by this policy?  
A.  While the intent is for all departments to be governed by this policy, he would have to 
get further clarification on these three.  

E - 2 - 5



Page 6 of 6 

Q. Can you provide any examples of purchases that were made under the
emergency purchasing provision?
A. I am not aware of any purchases made under this provision.
Q. What type of oversight is in place to make sure subcontractors are fulfilling the
terms of a contract?
A. The City relies on the prime contractor to supply the proper paperwork for its
subcontractors and to ensure that all of the terms of their contract are being fulfilled.

Mr. Rose stated the only two circumstances he is familiar with related to the use of the 
Emergency Purchasing Option are the purchase of an ambulance to facilitate Council's 
desire to resume the City's in-house ambulance services and several purchases 
associated with the pandemic. Because they were in an emergency situation, Mr. Rose 
stated he did not take the time to calculate whether collectively they exceeded $25,000, 
since they were deemed as necessary purchases for the organization as a whole.  

Councilmember Hales asked if there were any notable changes in this policy, outside of 
the Minority/Women-Owned Business Enterprise? Mr. Cole stated his review of other 
municipalities revealed that the dollar amounts in their purchasing guidelines fell under 
four categories, which began with; purchases under $1,999 can be purchased with a 
department-issued credit card in lieu of a Purchase Order. So, the City's policy was 
amended from $999.00 to $1,999 to align with those guidelines. 

Councilmember Smotherson asked who is the City's Purchasing Agent? Mr. Cole stated 
although technically, he would be considered the Purchasing Agent, there is a purchasing 
specialist within the Finance Department who reviews and approves all Requisitions and 
Purchase Orders, and he is the second signatory on those documents.  

Mayor Crow asked if there was a percentage or dollar amount utilized to give local 
businesses a preference over non-local businesses? Mr. Cole stated to his knowledge, 
the language simply implies that the City's inclination should be to utilize local businesses 
whenever possible.  

4. ADJOURNMENT
Mayor Crow thanked Mr. Cole for his presentation and adjourned the Study Session at
5:53 p.m.

LaRette Reese, 
City Clerk 

E - 2 - 6



 

Page 1 of 4 
 

  
 
 
 
 

 
On March 20, 2020, City Manager Gregory Rose declared a State of Emergency for the City of University City due to 
the COVID-19 Pandemic. Due to the ongoing efforts to limit the spread of the COVID-19 virus, those who are not fully 
vaccinated are asked to wear face coverings. To provide for social distancing during Council meetings in-person public 
attendance will be limited to the first 25 people. 
 
Citizen may also observe the Meeting via Live Stream on YouTube: 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCyN1EJ_-Q22918E9EZimWoQ 
 

A. MEETING CALLED TO ORDER 
At the Regular Session of the City Council of University City held on the Fifth Floor of City Hall, on 
Monday, November 8, 2021, Mayor Terry Crow called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 

 

B. ROLL CALL 

In addition to the Mayor, the following members of Council were present: 
   Councilmember Stacy Clay 
   Councilmember Aleta Klein 
   Councilmember Steven McMahon 
   Councilmember Jeffrey Hales 
   Councilmember Tim Cusick 
   Councilmember Bwayne Smotherson 
 
Also in attendance were City Manager, Gregory Rose; City Attorney, John F. Mulligan, Jr.; Acting 
Director of Planning and Development, Brooke Smith; Public Works Director, Sinan Alpaslan.  
 

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Councilmember Hales moved to approve the Agenda as presented, it was seconded by 
Councilmember Cusick, and the motion carried unanimously. 
 

D. PROCLAMATION 
 There were no proclamations. 

 
E. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. October 25, 2021 – Joint Study Session Minutes – Storm Water Commission - US Army Corps of 
Engineers RE:  River Des Peres, Councilmember McMahon moved to approve, it was seconded by 
Councilmember Klein, and the motion carried unanimously. 

 
F. APPOINTMENTS to BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 

There were no appointments.  
 

G. SWEARING IN TO BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 
There was no swearing ins.  
 

Mayor reminded members of Council to review the list of needed appointments and to continue working to fill 
vacancies where needed. 

 
 
 
 

MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
CITY HALL, Fifth Floor 

 6801 Delmar Blvd., University City, Missouri 63130 
Monday, November 8, 2021 

6:30 p.m. 

E - 3 - 1

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCyN1EJ_-Q22918E9EZimWoQ


 

Page 2 of 4 
 

H. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION (Total of 15 minutes allowed) 
Request to Address the Council Forms are located on the ledge just inside the entrance. Please complete and place the form 
in the basket at the front of the room. 
Citizen may provide written comments ahead of the meeting; they must be received no later than 12:00 p.m. the day of the 
meeting. Comments may be sent via email to:  councilcomments@ucitymo.org, or mailed to the City Hall – 6801 Delmar 
Blvd. – Attention City Clerk. Such comments will be provided to City Council prior to the meeting. Comments will be made a 
part of the official record and made accessible to the public online following the meeting. A name and address must be 
provided. Please also note if your comment is on an agenda or non-agenda item. If a name and address are not provided, 
the provided comment will not be recorded in the official record. 
 
Mayor Crow thanked citizens who provided comments ahead of the meeting, all of which have been provided to 
members of Council and will be made a part of this record. He then confirmed there were no request to speak 
from citizens present in Council Chambers. 
 

I. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 None 

 
J. CONSENT AGENDA 

1. Public Safety (Police) Vehicle Purchase 
2. Golf Course Tree Removal Agreement 

 
Councilmember Hales moved to approve the items on the Consent Agenda, it was seconded by Councilmember 
Cusick, and the motion carried unanimously. 

 
K. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

1. Conditional Use Permit Extension Request – PC 05665 – Church of Scientology (6901 Delmar Blvd) 
 
Mr. Rose stated item K-1 is asking that you consider the extension of a Conditional Use Permit and ask Ms. 
Smith to present the request to Council. 
 
Ms. Smith stated the Conditional Use Permit is for the Church of Scientology. The initial permit was approved in 
2018 for a church office in the Public Activity District and included approval of additional height for the building. 
City Council granted a two-year extension in 2019. Due to COVID and other delays the Church was not able to 
undertake construction. Another extension request was submitted on September 23, 2021. The Church is asking 
for an additional eighteen months to complete the construction. There are no changes to the plan. 
 
Councilmember Cusick moved to approve, it was seconded by Councilmember McMahon, and the  motion 
carried unanimously. 
 
2. Leaf Collection Contract Award 

 
Mr. Rose stated item K-2 is asking that you consider the award of a contract for leaf collection. The item was 
placed on the City Manager’s report to highlight the increased cost of the contract. This reflects the pressure that 
we are realizing from increased staffing cost. Mr. Rose asked Mr. Alpaslan, the Public Works Director to provide 
additional comments. 
 
Mr. Alpaslan stated that the expected cost is based on the past three years; which was about $185.00 but costs 
are going up and now it is about $209.00. This is still the low bid compared to the competitors. The cost increase 
trend across the industry is due to the COVID climate causing a shortage in skilled personnel. We are 
experiencing similar shortage internally, so this contract is to supplement our efforts. Staff believes it’s still cost 
effective at this rate to enter into the agreement for the first year and then see what future years show in terms of 
awarding additional contracts for years two and three. Approval is  recommended. 
  
Councilmember Smotherson moved to approve, it was seconded by Councilmember Cusick, and the motion 
carried unanimously. 

E - 3 - 2

mailto:councilcomments@ucitymo.org


 

Page 3 of 4 
 

 
L. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

1. Bill 9446 – AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST INDENTURE IN 
CONNECTION WITH THE TAX INCREMENT REVENUE NOTES (OLIVE BOULEVARD COMMERCIAL 
CORRIDOR AND RESIDENTIAL CONSERVATION REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT AREA 1), SERIES A 
AND B, OF THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AND APRPOVING CERTAIN ACTIONS 
RELATING THERETO. Bill Number 9446 was read for the second and third time. 

 
Mr. Rose stated this item asks that Council consider an ordinance for the execution for a Supplemental 
Indenture to modify redemption provisions in the original Indenture and Notes. Mr. Rose asked City Attorney 
John Mulligan to present a proposed amendment to the ordinance and to highlight what the amendment would 
achieve.  
 
Mr. Mulligan stated Bill 9446 was introduced on October 25, 2021. After its introduction, further discussions with 
the developer and owner of the Notes occurred regarding an amendment to the Bill. Specifically, the amendment 
would change the interest rate on the Tax Increment Revenue Notes that are not excluded from gross income 
for federal income tax purposes. From the greater of (x) the Prime Rate plus 2% or (y) 8% to a fixed rate of 8%. 
Essentially what is being removed is the greater of Prime Rate Plus 2%. This could result in a higher rate of 
interest than 8%, so this amendment caps it at 8% as opposed to going higher assuming the prime rate exceeds 
the 8% rate. If the Council is inclined to consider this amendment to the bill, he would recommend a motion be 
made as follows “amend Bill 9446 so as to change the interest rate on the Tax Increment Revenue Notes, not 
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, from the greater of (x) the Prime Rate Plus 2% or 
(y) 8% to a fixed rate of 8% as set out in the amended Bill in the City Clerk’s files”. 

 
Pursuant to the recommended motion made by Mr. Mulligan, Councilmember Cusick moved to amend Bill 9446, 
it was seconded by Councilmember Clay. 
 
Q. Councilmember Smotherson asked if anything  in this amendment would affect the ten million or five million in 
reference to RPA2 or RPA3 related to TIF Notes? 
A. Mr. Rose stated that this amendment has no impact on the allotment.  
Q. Councilmember Clay stated if we think about this in terms of a mortgage; people enter into a fixed rate, that 
will not go up in terms of the interest rate that they pay; they have the right to refinance at any time to potentially 
get a lower rate. It is fair to say the rate that would be paid to the developer won’t go above 8%? The way it’s 
currently configured; in a rising interest rate environment, like we have now, Prime could go past 8%, so we 
could be at 8% Prime Rate plus 2, so it would be at 10%, and we would be paying more. So, we will not pay 
more than 8% but we are sacrificing the right to refinance? 
A. Mr. Mulligan stated that was correct for a ten-year period, this goes through 2031. It depends on what the 
Prime Rate is. Currently the interest rate can’t go above 10; if Prime were 8%, plus the 2 that would be the 
maximum of 10%. This amendment caps it at 8% but you give up the right to redeem for the ten-year period.  
Councilmember Clay stated we will have a fixed upside and an unknown downside; in current 
environment, rates are in fact rising. We don’t know what the future will hold but right now rates are 
rising. 
 
Roll Call Vote Was: 
Ayes:  Councilmember Klein, Councilmember McMahon, Councilmember Hales, Councilmember 
Cusick, Councilmember Smotherson, Councilmember Clay, and Mayor Crow. 
Nays:  None. 
 
Councilmember McMahon moved to approve Bill 9446 as amended, it was seconded by Councilmember Cusick. 

 
Roll Call Vote Was: 
Ayes:  , Councilmember McMahon, Councilmember Hales, Councilmember Cusick, Councilmember 
Smotherson, Councilmember Clay, Councilmember Klein and Mayor Crow. 
Nays:  None. 

 
 

E - 3 - 3



 

Page 4 of 4 
 

 
 

M. NEW BUSINESS 
Bills 
Introduced by Councilmember Hales 

1. Bill 9448 – AN ORDINANCE APPROVING THE SECOND AMENDED FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
FOR THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT TO CROWN CENTER FOR SENIOR LIVING LOCATED AT 
8348 – 8350 DELCREST DRIVE IN THE PD-M PLANNED DEVELOPMENT MIXED-USE ZONING 
DISTRICT. Bill Number 9448 was read for the first. 

 
N. COUNCIL REPORTS/BUSINESS 

1. Boards and Commission appointments needed 
 
Councilmember Smotherson reminded everyone about the Returning Artist Reception on Wednesday at 
7:00 p.m. at the high school’s library. The artist is Danny DuMaine 
 

2. Council liaison reports on Boards and Commissions 
3. Boards, Commissions and Task Force minutes 
4. Other Discussions/Business 

 
O. CITIZEN PARTICIPATON (continue if needed) 

 
P. COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 
 Mayor Crow stated the Halloween festivities in the Loop went very well and he is looking forward to having  
 more street fair activities in the Loop to get more people out to visit our businesses. 
 
Q. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
Motion to go into a Closed Session according to Missouri Revised Statutes 610.021 (1) Legal actions, causes 
of action or litigation involving a public governmental body and any confidential or privileged communications 
between a public governmental body or its representatives or attorneys. 
 

Councilmember Hales moved to adjourn the Regular Session, it was seconded by Councilmember Clay, and 
the motion carried unanimously. 

 
R. ADJOURNMENT 

Mayor Crow adjourned the Regular Session at 6:46 p.m. 
 
 
LaRette Reese 
City Clerk 

 
 

E - 3 - 4



E - 3 - 5



E - 3 - 6



E - 3 - 7



E - 3 - 8



I - 1 - 1



COPY FOR YOUR RECORDS ONLY,

NOT AN INVOICE OR AFFIDAVIT OF PUBLICATION 

Please Read Carefully

Missouri Lawyers Media is not responsible for 

errors or omissions after the First Run Date. If 

any errors, contact 1 (314) 421-1880. Attorneys 

placing legal advertisements are responsible for 

payment of same.

Brooke A Smith

University City, City Of

6801 Delmar Blvd 

St. Louis, MO 63130-3104

ORDER KEYWORDS:

1 of 1
Missouri Lawyers Media

Missouri Lawyers Weekly, St Louis Daily Record, St Charles Business 
Record The Countian (St Louis, Jefferson), The Daily Record and LAN

319 N Fourth Street, 5th Floor 
St. Louis,  MO 63102

1 (314) 421-1880 
www.molawyersmedia.com

Subsequent Rate:

Anchor Rate: $37.12
$0.00

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF UNIVERSITY 
CITY WILL HOLD A PUBLIC 
HEARING ON MONDAY, NOVEMBER 
22, 2021 AT 6:30 PM IN THE 5TH 
FLOOR COUNCIL CHAMBERS OF 
CITY HALL, 6801 DELMAR 
BOULEVARD, TO CONSIDER THE 
APPLICATION

PO #
Order #
Placement

Schedule
# of Times
Base Charge*
Addt'l Charges/Disc*
Payment Amount

TOTAL:

(Not an Invoice)

12052648
Countian St. Louis (MO)

Government
Hearings and Minutes

11/11/2021 - 11/11/2021
1 inserts

37.12
0.00
0.00

37.12

*Changes to this order may result in pricing changes. 

Order: 12052648 Proof Printed:  3:28:03PM on 11/9/2021 by Brandon CrailCustomer: 10017118/University City, City Of
I - 1 - 2



J - 1 - 1



J - 1 - 2



J - 2 - 1



J - 2 - 2



J - 3 - 1



 

 

GOLF PROGRAMMING AGREEMENT 

This Golf Programming Agreement ("Agreement") is entered into and made this _____ day of 
____________________, 2021, by and between St. Louis Golf Lessons, a Missouri corporation, and the 
City of University City, Missouri ("City"), a Missouri municipal corporation. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, St. Louis Golf Lessons 
and the City agree as follows: 
 
CITY 

 
1. St. Louis Golf Lessons is given the exclusive right to provide private lessons (paid instruction to 

individuals or groups) and youth and adult programming (Camps, Classes, and Clinics), (“Services”) 
at the Ruth Park Golf Course – Driving Range and other approved areas as set forth below; however, 
the City of University City expressly reserves the right to give permission to schools and/or other non-
profit groups who have a use contract with the City to provide their own lessons/instruction to their 
student athletes at the Ruth Park Golf Course – Driving Range and elsewhere. Such activity shall be 
coordinated with the City and St. Louis Golf Lessons so as to minimize any disruptions. 
 
The Services shall be provided as follows: 2021- November through December 31st,  with the City’s 
option to pick up two additional years (2022 - January 1st through December 31st; 2023 -  January 1st 
through December 31st ) on an annual basis under the same terms and conditions. 
 

2. The City agrees to provide St. Louis Golf Lessons an opportunity to provide a link to its website for 
Services provided at Ruth Park Golf Course. 

 
3. The City agrees to provide St. Louis Golf Lessons an opportunity to provide marketing materials and 

signage at the Ruth Park Golf Course at its own expense and must be approved by the City before 
posting or placement. 

 
4. The City agrees to allow St. Louis Golf Lessons access to the Ruth Park Golf Course -Driving Range 

for mutually agreed upon non-City programming events. It would be St. Louis Golf Lessons’ 
responsibility to collect all registrations and payments for said events. Each participant would be 
responsible for the purchase of their own driving range golf balls used in conjunction with said 
programs. 

 
ST. LOUIS GOLF LESSONS 
 
1. St. Louis Golf Lessons shall provide instructors to teach private lessons at the Ruth Park Golf Course 

at times and dates as mutually agreed upon by both parties.  St. Louis Golf Lessons shall collect all 
registrations and payments for said lessons.  Each participant will be responsible for the purchase of 
their own driving range golf balls used in conjunction with their lessons from the Ruth Park Golf 
Course. 

  
2. St. Louis Golf Lessons shall provide instructors to teach mutually agreed upon group programming 

for both youth and adults at the Ruth Park Golf Course at times and dates as mutually agreed upon by 
both parties. In general, these mutually agreed upon programs shall be conducted in the spring, 
summer, and fall.  St. Louis Golf Lessons shall collect all registrations and payments for said 

J - 3 - 2



 

 

programming and provide the City with a roster of all participants.  St. Louis Golf Lessons shall 
provide the City with twenty (20%) of all revenues generated by each participant. Said revenues and 
rosters shall be submitted to the City at the conclusion of each program session. Furthermore, each 
participant will be responsible for the purchase of their own driving range golf balls, greens and cart 
fees and any other fees that may be used in conjunction with each program from the Ruth Park Golf 
Course. 

 
3. St. Louis Golf Lessons shall provide all equipment and supplies necessary to conduct the Services as 

outlined in this Agreement. 
 

4. St. Louis Golf Lessons shall be provided the opportunity and right to conduct club fittings. 
 

5. St. Louis Golf Lessons shall act as an independent contractor, and nothing in this Agreement shall be 
interpreted to create any employment, partnership, or joint venture relationship.  

 
6. St. Louis Golf Lessons shall indemnify and hold harmless the City and its officers, directors, 

employees, and agents from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages arising out of or 
relating to the performance of the Services. 

 
7. St. Louis Golf Lessons agrees to provide a one (1) million-dollar Certificate of Liability and 

Endorsement Page and name the City of University City as additional insured.     
 

8. St. Louis Golf Lessons agrees to provide the City with valid background checks on all instructors 
providing Services at the Ruth Park Golf Course.      

 
9. St. Louis Golf Lessons shall comply with all driving range and golf course rules and regulations. 

 
10. St. Louis Golf Lessons shall comply with all City, local, state, and federal laws, rules, and regulations 

applicable to this Agreement. 
 
This Agreement shall be subject to termination by the City in the event of sale or destruction of the 
facilities; because of misfeasance or malfeasance by the operator; or because of reasons related to public 
health and safety. The City may also terminate this Agreement for repeated noncompliance with 
requirements as set forth and specified in this Agreement. The City reserves the right to terminate the 
Agreement for any reason with a thirty (30) day written notice. 
 
The City also reserves the right, by the Agreement to cancel any part or all of the same for failure by St. 
Louis Golf Lessons to follow terms of said Agreement.  All licensing, health and safety standards and 
regulations required by ordinances of the City of University City, St. Louis County, State of Missouri, or 
federal laws will be required of St. Louis Golf Lessons. 
 
This Agreement and all of the covenants hereof shall insure to the benefit of and be binding upon the City 
and St. Louis Golf Lessons’ respectively and their partners, successors, assigns and legal representatives.  
Neither the City nor St. Louis Golf Lessons shall have the right to assign, transfer, or sublet their interests 
or obligation hereunder without consent of the other party. 
This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with regard to its subject matter, 
supersedes all previous agreements on this subject matter, and may be modified only by written 
agreement of the parties, and shall be governed by the laws of the City of University City and the State of 
Missouri. 

J - 3 - 3



 

 

 
This Agreement shall be administered by the City Manager and the Director of Parks, Recreation and 
Forestry or their designees, and St. Louis Golf Lessons shall work cooperatively with them at all times. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement.  
 
Attest: 
 
 
Title: _______________________________________________________________ 
  
By (signature): _______________________________________________________  
 
Contractor (print): ______________________________________________________ 
 
Date: ___________________________________________ 
 
 
(SEAL) 
 
 
 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
By: _____________________________             
                   City Clerk 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          
Date: __________________________                                                     
      
 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY            CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________   By: ____________________________                                                                                                                                                          
                   City Attorney      City Manager 
 
Date: __________________________   Date: __________________________ 
                                                   
 

J - 3 - 4



J - 4 -  1



1804 BORMAN CIRCLE DRIVE   SAINT LOUIS, MISSOURI 63146   (T) 314.395.9899   (F) 314.432.8630   WWW.TERRAENGINEERING.COM 
CHICAGO  PEORIA  OAK PARK  ST. LOUIS  MILWAUKEE GRAYSLAKE 

November 8, 2021 

Mr. Errol Tate 
Senior Public Works-Parks Manager 
City of University City 
6801 Delmar Boulevard 
University City, MO 63130 
T: 314.505.8571 
F: 314.338.7825 
E: etate@ucitymo.org  

Re: 2021 ADA Ramp Replacements 
Various Locations – University City, Missouri 
Proposal for Civil Engineering Services 

Dear Mr. Tate: 

Thank you for allowing us to put together a contract proposal for you on this project.  Per your 
request, we provide the following proposal to the City of University City (“Client”) for the survey 
and civil engineering services associated with the 2021 ADA ramp replacements at various 
locations throughout the City of University City.  

This fee proposal is based on your request for proposal (RFP) received October 14, 2021, our 
conversations thereafter, documentation provided to date, our field visit, our research to date 
concerning the subject locations, and our understanding of codes in effect as of this date.   

The work to be undertaken is to evaluate and develop design plans for the replacement of 
intersection curb ramps located throughout the City of University City which have been 
deemed deficient and need design plans for replacement. The intersection locations to be 
included and evaluated in the design include the following thirteen (13) intersections with an 
estimated number of corners which may be needed at each intersection. This proposal 
assumes work will be limited to the following intersections and corners. Note that the term 
“crossing” is being used for scoping purposes to indicate designated crosswalk locations 
bounded with compliant curb ramps on both sides.  

1. Blackberry Avenue & Briarwood Lane, T intersection –1 crossing (Briarwood). No crossing
to be installed on Blackberry.
A. NW corner
B. NE corner

2. Blackberry Avenue & Jeanerette Drive, T intersection – 1 crossing (Jeanerette).  No
crossing to be installed on Blackberry.
A. NW corner
B. NE corner

J - 4 -  2



Mr.  Errol Tate 
City of University City 
2021 ADA Ramp Replacements – TERRA Proposal 
Page 2 of 11 November 8, 2021 

 

3. Blackberry Avenue & Saxony Court, T intersection – 2 crossings (one crossing for Saxony 
and one for Blackberry). The Blackberrry crossing may be either on the east leg or the 
west leg, depending on the intersection constraints.  
A. SW corner 
B. SE Corner 
C. NE or NW quadrant 

4. Blackberry Avenue & Wilner Drive, T intersection – 1 crossing (Wilner).  No crossing to be 
installed on Blackberry.  
A. SW corner 
B. SE Corner 

5. Blackberry Avenue & Blackberry Place, T intersection – 2 crossings (one crossing for 
Blackberrry Ave and one for Blackberry Place). The Blackberrry Avenue will ideally be on 
the west leg of the intersection to be closer to the park.   
A. NW corner 
B. NE corner 
C. SW quadrant 

6. Blackberry Avenue & Greenshire Court, T intersection – 1 crossing. No crossing to be 
installed on Blackberry. 
A. SW corner 
B. SE Corner 

7. Blackberry Avenue & Mulberry Lane, T intersection – 2 crossings (one crossing for 
Mulberry and one for Blackberry). The Blackberry crossing will most likely be on the west 
leg of the intersection due to the retaining wall in the northeast quadrant, but the final 
proposed location can be determined after evaluating the intersection constraints.  
A. NW corner 
B. NE corner 
C. SW quadrant 

8. Kingsbury Boulevard & Mission Court – 4 crossings  
A. SW corner 
B. Ramps within island: west side and east side 
C. SE Corner (at the existing location of the sidewalk that continues to the southeast)  
D. NW quadrant 

9. Kingsbury Boulevard & West Point Court – 4 crossings. As discussed with the City, curb 
ramp installation in the northwest corner of this intersection would require retaining walls. 
This complex location (northwest corner) is excluded from the scope of this contract. The 
pedestrian access route will utilize other nearby crossings. Additionally, the topographical 
survey at these locations will be evaluated to determine whether the existing ramps are 
compliant per current standards. If they are compliant, there is no need to design new 
ramps.  
A. SW corner (two ramps, far apart) 
B. SE corner (two ramps, far apart) 
C. NE corner (two ramps, far apart) 
D. Island east side + Island south side 

10. Julian Avenue & Ursula Avenue (T intersection) – 2 crossings (one crossing for Julian and 
one for Ursula). Note that the presence of a driveway in the northwest corner increases the 

J - 4 -  3



Mr.  Errol Tate 
City of University City 
2021 ADA Ramp Replacements – TERRA Proposal 
Page 3 of 11 November 8, 2021 

 

complexity of this design. The only reasonable solution may be a crossing on the west leg 
west of the driveway and a crossing on the north side north of the inlets.  
A. NW corner 
B. SW corner 
C. NE (or SE) quadrant 

11. Corbitt Avenue & Purcell Avenue – 4 crossings 
A. NE corner 
B. NW corner 
C. SE Corner 
D. SW corner 

12. Corbitt Avenue & Partridge Avenue – 2 crossings. Note that an initial review of this location 
indicates that compliance will may require retaining wall modification and right-of-way 
takes or installation of a curb extension in the northeast quadrant. Preliminary design 
concepts will be shared with the City for concurrence prior to finalizing the design. 
Retaining wall design/plans, boundary survey and right-of-way plats are excluded from this 
scope. The design and plans for a modified retaining wall may be added as an optional 
service.  
A. NE corner 
B. SE Corner 
C. SW quadrant 

13. Melrose Avenue & Partridge Avenue – 2 crossings 
A. NW quadrant 
B. NE corner 
C. SE corner 

 
The City has outdated designs for the following intersections with Blackberry: Briarwood, 
Greenshire, Mulberry, Wilner and Jeanerette. The designs were not installed. City will provide 
these designs to TERRA for reference.  
 
TERRA’s cost proposal for this design makes several assumptions when estimating the costs 
to provide the design work for the project. The assumptions are as follows: 
 

• The project will consist of curb ramp design serving twenty-eight (28) crossings at the 
thirteen (13) intersections described above. 

• The ramp designs will vary in complexity of the design needed to bring the corner into 
compliance with Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) requirements and based on the 
Public Rights-of-Way Accessibility Guidelines (PROWAG) provided by the United 
States Access Board which are effective as of the date of this agreement. 

 
A specific list of scope of work and anticipate deliverables is listed below. 
 
SCOPE OF WORK/ANTICIPATED DELIVERABLES 
1. Civil Engineering and Survey 

A. Preliminary Design 
i. Attend up to three (3) virtual project meetings with the City. Conduct the remainder 

of meetings/coordination via phone and e-mail. 

J - 4 -  4



Mr.  Errol Tate 
City of University City 
2021 ADA Ramp Replacements – TERRA Proposal 
Page 4 of 11 November 8, 2021 

 

ii. Request a Missouri One Call System design search and coordinate with utility 
companies to solicit utility records of the area. 
a. Please note this retrieval process sometimes takes 4-6 weeks 

iii. Review codes and ordinances in effect for the design. 
iv. Review City, State, national standards in effect for the design. 

B. Data Collection 
i. Topographic Survey 

a. Elevations will be referenced to the St. Louis County Benchmark System. 
Benchmarks used will be referenced. 

b. Spot elevations at representative intervals at center of street, edge of pavement, 
gutter flowline, back of curb, front and back of sidewalk, and property line. 

c. Spot elevations at representative intervals at alleys, driveways, walks, paths, 
roadway pavement, and other found items useful for design. 

d. Plotted location of street markings (i.e., lane striping, stop bars, crosswalks) 
e. Plotted location of all trees and large shrubs approximately 4” dia. and larger 
f. Visible utilities and drainage structures will be located, rim and invert elevations, 

along with pipe size and direction will be shown. Per OSHA regulations, survey 
personnel will not enter any confined space. Survey will be performed from 
ground level. Utility lines will be drawn on survey as visible and as noted in 
utility record documentation or other records provided by Client. 

g. The drawing will include a legend of the symbols and abbreviations used. 
ii. Storm sewer structures within the project limits that may conflict with proposed 

improvements will be mapped for general information. 
iii. Photo documentation of existing conditions will be collected. 
iv. Deliverable to be included within the Construction Drawings 

a. Topographic Survey for corners of each intersection 
C. Engineering & Design Development 

i. Attend coordination meetings (limit 3, virtual) and conduct the remainder of 
coordination via phone and e-mail. 

a. TERRA will complete a detailed design of the corner ramps, presented at 1 "=5' 
scale for ANSI D plan sheets 

ii. Prepare and Provide Deliverables 
a. Summary of Quantities 
b. Engineer’s estimate of probable cost 
c. Develop, prepare, and assemble Construction Drawings 

(a) Title Sheet with index 
(b) Construction Notes, legend 
(c) Summary of Quantities 
(d) Details 
(e) Intersection overview sketches (location map) 
(f) Detailed Ramp Designs 
(g) Standards 

d. Develop, prepare, and assemble Project Specific Specifications 
(a) The following Specifications Sections are included in the Scope of Work:  

(i) Section 3.0 – Job Special Provisions 
(ii) Section 5.0 – Location Maps 
(iii) Section 6.0 – Drawings (List of) 

iii. Deliverable Documents 
a. Final Design Deliverable shall include the following documents: 

J - 4 -  5



Mr.  Errol Tate 
City of University City 
2021 ADA Ramp Replacements – TERRA Proposal 
Page 5 of 11 November 8, 2021 

 

(a) Engineer’s estimate of probable cost 
(b) Construction Drawings 
(c) Project Specific Specifications 

(i) Section 3.0 Job Special Provisions 
(ii) Section 5.0 Locations 
(iii) Section 6.0 Drawings list 

b. One (1) paper copy of the deliverable documents will be provided, if requested 
by the Client 

c. All deliverable documents will be provided in the appropriate following electronic 
formats: Microsoft Word, Microsoft Excel, PDF 

d. If desired, electronic CAD files can be provided upon request and receipt of 
TERRA’s electronic file transfer waiver. 

2. Additional Services (Provided at Extra cost, if required) – No work will be done in these 
areas without prior consultation with the City of University City. 
A. Survey 

i. Boundary Survey 
a. The property boundary lines will be shown with record and measured 

dimensions, line calls included in the legal description will be noted on the plat. 
b. TERRA’s team will research and obtain recorded documents for the subject 

parcel(s) through public access to the County Recorder’s Office, and the 
information will be indicated on the Survey as required. Please note, TERRA 
does not certify ownership of the subject property, or that all easements, 
dedications, or vacations have been referenced without a current title 
commitment/search. Should the client wish TERRA to obtain a current title 
search, please let us know and we will provide as a reimbursable to our 
contract.  

c. Monuments will be set to reference the property boundaries and the type and 
location called out on the plat. 

d. The area of the property will be shown. 
e. Improvements to the property will be shown and fences and buildings will be 

dimensioned to the property lines 
f. Encroachments will be shown and dimensioned to the property lines. 
g. The surveyor will sign and seal each drawing and certify that the information 

contained in the drawing is true and accurately indicated. 
h. A legend of symbols and abbreviations used will be on the drawing. 

B. Additional Design 
i. Design for additional intersections or corners not listed above can be added to the 

contract. Pricing for additional design may be location specific. 
ii. TERRA may seek additional compensation where design standards extend 

construction limits beyond the foreseeable limits. Examples of such may include 
where extensive pavement, grading, or driveway replacement are required. All 
efforts to reduce construction limits will be exercised as allowed by the governing 
design standards. 

C. Additional Specifications 
i. Develop, prepare, and assemble Non-Project Specific Specifications 

(a) Section 1.0 – Bidding Documents (which includes sections 1.1-1.8) 
(b) Section 2.0 – Condition of Contract 
(c) Section 4.0 – St. Louis County Annual Wage Rates 

 

J - 4 -  6



Mr.  Errol Tate 
City of University City 
2021 ADA Ramp Replacements – TERRA Proposal 
Page 6 of 11 November 8, 2021 

 

 
LIMIT OF SERVICES / ASSUMPTIONS 
1. A proposal for the following will be provided if requested as these items are currently 

excluded: 
A. Surveying: 

i. Title Search 
ii. Plats of Easement, Subdivision, Consolidation and/or Vacation 
iii. Surveyed As-Builts 
iv. Construction Layout 

B. Traffic Engineering 
C. Structural Engineering 
D. Hydraulic Engineering 
E. Landscape Architecture 
F. Multi-phase design or construction plans 
G. Permitting through Highway Department(s) 
H. Graphic Information System (GIS) analysis 

2. This scope of work is based on documents available as of this date. 
3. The survey scope of services and fee herein assumes both Boundary and Topographic 

Surveys are conducted simultaneously.  Should these be requested at different times, fee 
adjustments will be required. 

4. The fees herein do not include permitting fees as may be required. 
5. Additional meetings attendance and site visits conducted beyond the scope of services 

shall be billed on a time/material basis in accordance with hourly fee schedule. 
 

SCHEDULE 
Upon agreement on scope of work and receipt of signed fee proposal, TERRA will schedule a 
kick-off meeting with the City and order the MO One Call Locates. TERRA will commence with 
the Scope of Work soon after the Kick-off meeting.  
 
The City has requested that TERRA provide 100% plans and specifications for review by 
February 15, 2022. The City will review and provide comments, if any. TERRA will address the 
City’s comments and provide final documents with a target date of March 1, 2022.  
 
Adjustments to schedule or the additional of milestone deliverables may result in additional 
services. 

 
COMPENSATION 
TERRA offers the above services at the fees outlined below: 
 

1. Preliminary Design $6,640.00 
 

2. Data Collection $9,140.00 
 

3. Engineering & Design Development $31,790.00 
 

TOTAL NOT TO EXCEED: $47,570.00 
 

 

J - 4 -  7



Mr.  Errol Tate 
City of University City 
2021 ADA Ramp Replacements – TERRA Proposal 
Page 7 of 11 November 8, 2021 

 

ADDITIONAL SERVICES 
Pricing is based on the assumptions listed in the scope in regard to anticipated design and 
effort for each location. Changes to completed survey, design, or documents due to revised 
input or direction, change of project limits or scope and preparation of additional drawings 
shall be invoiced as an Additional Service. Work will not be performed without your expressed, 
written consent.  Estimates for additional services will be provided upon your request. 
 
ACCEPTANCE 
This proposal, with the signature of the appropriate personnel, constitutes acceptance of fee 
and terms as stated herein.  Please return one copy of the signed proposal to me as 
authorization to begin work. 
 
If you have any questions or need clarification on any of the above, please do not hesitate to 
call. We look forward to working with you on this project and appreciate you contracting us for 
services. 
 
 
Sincerely yours, 
 
TERRA ENGINEERING, LTD. 
 

 
 

M. Chris Hutchinson, P.E., PTOE 
Senior Transportation Engineer 
 
Cc: George Ghareeb, P.E. - Vice President – TERRA 
 Eric Therkildsen, P.E. - Associate Vice President - TERRA 

 
 
 
ACCEPTED BY 
 
Date: ______________________ 
 
Printed name:  _______________________________ 
    
Signed name:  _______________________________ 
 
Title:  ______________________ 

J - 4 -  8



Mr.  Errol Tate 
City of University City 
2021 ADA Ramp Replacements – TERRA Proposal 
Page 8 of 11 November 8, 2021 

 

BILLING AND PAYMENT 
Billing and payment shall be in accordance with the fee proposal as noted in the Compensation schedule of this 
proposal.  Scope of services under a fixed fee basis shall be billed upon fulfillment and/or percentage of the 
completed task.  Scope of services under a time and material basis shall be billed per unit rate as services are 
performed. 
1. Timing/Format 

A. Invoices shall be submitted monthly for Services completed at the time of billing and are due upon receipt, 
unless negotiated otherwise with Terra Engineering.  Invoices shall be considered past due if not paid 
within 30 calendar days of the due date.  Such invoices shall be prepared in a form supported by 
documentation as Client may reasonably require. 

B. If payment in full is not received by TERRA Engineering within 30 calendar days of the due date, invoices 
shall bear interest at one-and-one-half (1.5) percent of the past due amount per month, which shall be 
calculated from the invoice due date. 

C. If the Client fails to make payments within 30 calendar days of due date or otherwise is in breach of this 
Agreement, TERRA Engineering may suspend performance of services upon seven (7) calendar days’ 
notice to the Client. TERRA Engineering shall have no liability whatsoever to the Client for any costs or 
damages as a result of suspension caused by any breach of this Agreement by the Client. Upon payment 
in full by the Client, TERRA Engineering shall resume services under this Agreement, and the time 
schedule and compensation shall be equitably adjusted to compensate for the period of suspension plus 
any other reasonable time and expense necessary for TERRA Engineering to resume performance. 

2. Billing Records 
A. TERRA Engineering shall maintain accounting records of its costs in accordance with generally accepted 

practices.  Access to such records will be provided during normal business hours with reasonable notice 
during the term of this Agreement and for 3 years after completion. 

 
STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. STANDARD OF CARE.  Services shall be performed in accordance with the standard of professional 
practice ordinarily exercised by the applicable profession at the time and within the locality where the 
services are performed. No warranty or guarantee, express or implied is provided, including warranties or 
guarantees contained in any uniform commercial code. 

2. CHANGE OF SCOPE.  The scope of Services set forth in this Agreement is based on facts known at the 
time of execution of this Agreement, including, if applicable, information supplied by TERRA Engineering 
and Client.  TERRA Engineering will promptly notify Client of any perceived changes of scope in writing 
and the parties shall negotiate modifications to this Agreement. 

3. DELAYS.  If events beyond the control of TERRA Engineering, including, but not limited to, fire, flood, 
explosion, riot, strike, war, process shutdown, act of God or the public enemy, and act or regulation of any 
government agency, result in delay to any schedule established in this Agreement, such schedule shall be 
extended for a period equal to the delay.  In the event such delay exceeds 90 days, TERRA Engineering 
shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in compensation and extension of time. 

4. TERMINATION/SUSPENSION.  Either party may terminate this Agreement upon 30 days written notice to 
the other party in the event of substantial failure by the other party to perform in accordance with its 
obligations under this Agreement through no fault of the terminating party.  Client shall pay TERRA 
Engineering for all Services, including profit relating thereto, rendered prior to termination, plus any 
expenses of termination. 

5. REUSE OF INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE.  All reports, drawings, specifications, computer data, field data 
notes and other documents prepared by TERRA Engineering as instruments of service shall remain the 
property of TERRA Engineering.  TERRA Engineering shall retain all common law, statutory and other 
reserved rights, including the copyright thereto.  Reuse of any instruments of service including electronic 
media, for any purpose other than that for which such documents or deliverables were originally prepared, 
or alteration of such documents or deliverables without written authorization or adaptation by TERRA 
Engineering for the specific purpose intended, shall be at Client’s sole risk. 

6. ELECTRONIC MEDIA. Electronic files furnished by either party shall be subject to an acceptance period 
of 30 days during which the receiving party agrees to perform appropriate acceptance tests.  The party 
furnishing the electronic file shall correct any discrepancies or errors detected and reported within the 

J - 4 -  9



Mr.  Errol Tate 
City of University City 
2021 ADA Ramp Replacements – TERRA Proposal 
Page 9 of 11 November 8, 2021 

 

acceptance period.  After the acceptance period, the electronic files shall be deemed to be accepted and 
neither party shall have any obligation to correct errors or maintain electronic files. In the event of a conflict 
between the signed construction documents prepared by TERRA Engineering and electronic files, the 
signed or sealed hard-copy construction documents shall govern. Under no circumstances shall delivery of 
electronic files for use by Client be deemed a sale by TERRA Engineering and TERRA Engineering 
makes no warranties, either express or implied, of merchantability and fitness for any particular purpose.  
In no event shall TERRA Engineering be liable for indirect or consequential damages as a result of the 
Client’s use or reuse of the electronic files. 

7. OPINIONS OF CONSTRUCTION COST.  Any opinion of construction costs prepared by TERRA 
Engineering is supplied for the general guidance of the Client only.  Since TERRA Engineering has no 
control over competitive bidding or market conditions, TERRA Engineering cannot guarantee the accuracy 
of such opinions as compared to contract bids or actual costs to Client. 

8. SAFETY.  TERRA Engineering shall establish and maintain programs and procedures for the safety of its 
employees. TERRA Engineering specifically disclaims any authority or responsibility for general job site 
safety and safety of persons other than TERRA Engineering employees. 

9. RELATIONSHIP WITH CONTRACTORS.  TERRA Engineering shall serve as Client’s professional 
representative for the Services, and may make recommendations to Client concerning actions relating to 
Client’s contractors, but TERRA Engineering specifically disclaims any authority to direct or supervise the 
means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures of construction selected by Client’s contractors. 

10. THIRD PARTY CLAIMS:  This Agreement does not create any right or benefit for parties other than 
TERRA Engineering and Client. 

11. MODIFICATION.  This Agreement, upon execution by both parties hereto, can be modified only by a 
written instrument signed by both parties. 

12. PROPRIETARY INFORMATION.  Information relating to the Project, unless in the public domain, shall be 
kept confidential by TERRA Engineering and shall not be made available to third parties without written 
consent of Client, unless so required by court order. 

13. INSURANCE.  TERRA Engineering will maintain insurance coverage for Professional, Comprehensive 
General, Automobile, Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability in amounts in accordance with 
legal, and TERRA Engineering business requirements.  Certificates evidencing such coverage will be 
provided to Client upon request. For projects involving construction, Client agrees to require its 
construction contractor, if any, to include TERRA Engineering as an additional insured on its commercial 
general liability policy relating to the Project, and such coverages shall be primary. 

14. INDEMNITIES.  TERRA Engineering agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and hold 
harmless the Client, its officers, directors and employees against all damages, liabilities or costs, including 
reasonable attorneys’ fees and defense costs, to the extent caused by TERRA Engineering’s negligent 
performance of professional services under this Agreement and that of its subconsultants or anyone for 
whom TERRA Engineering is legally liable.  The Client agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to 
indemnify and hold harmless TERRA Engineering, its officers, directors, employees and subconsultants 
against all damages, liabilities or costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and defense costs, to the 
extent caused by the Client’s negligent acts in connection with the Project and that of its contractors, 
subcontractors or consultants or anyone for whom the Client is legally liable. Neither the Client nor TERRA 
Engineering shall be obligated to indemnify the other party in any manner whatsoever for the other party’s 
own negligence. 

15. LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY.  No employee or agent of TERRA Engineering shall have individual liability 
to Client.  Client agrees that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, TERRA Engineering’s total liability to 
Client for any and all injuries, claims, losses, expenses or damages whatsoever arising out of or in any 
way related to the Project or this Agreement from any causes including, but not limited to, TERRA 
Engineering’s negligence, error, omissions, strict liability, or breach of contract shall not exceed the total 
compensation covered by TERRA Engineering’s professional liability insurance. 

16. ACCESS.  Client shall provide TERRA Engineering safe access to the project site necessary for the 
performance of the services. 

J - 4 -  10



Mr.  Errol Tate 
City of University City 
2021 ADA Ramp Replacements – TERRA Proposal 
Page 10 of 11 November 8, 2021 

 

17. ASSIGNMENT.  The rights and obligations of this Agreement cannot be assigned by either party without 
written permission of the other party.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and insure to the benefit of 
any permitted assigns. 

18. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS.  TERRA Engineering and TERRA Engineering’s consultants shall have no 
responsibility for discovery, presence, handling, removal or disposal of or exposure of persons to 
hazardous materials in any form at the project site, including but not limited to asbestos, asbestos 
products, polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) or other toxic substances.  If required by law, the client shall 
accomplish all necessary inspections and testing to determine the type and extent, if any, of hazardous 
materials at the project site.  Prior to the start of services, or at the earliest time such information is 
learned, it shall be the duty of the Client to advise TERRA Engineering (in writing) of any known or 
suspected hazardous materials.  Removal and proper disposal of all hazardous materials shall be the 
responsibility of the Client. 

19. REMODELING AND RENOVATION.  For TERRA Engineering’s services provided to assist the Client in 
making changes to an existing facility, the Client shall furnish documentation and information upon which 
TERRA Engineering may rely for its accuracy and completeness. Unless specifically authorized or 
confirmed in writing by the Client, TERRA Engineering shall not be required to perform, or have others 
perform, destructive testing or to investigate concealed or unknown conditions.  The Client shall indemnify 
and hold harmless TERRA Engineering, TERRA Engineering’s consultants, and their employees from and 
against claims, damages, losses and expenses which arise as a result of documentation and information 
furnished by the Client. 

20. CLIENT’S CONSULTANTS.  Contracts between the Client and other consultants retained by Client for the 
Project shall require the consultants to coordinate their drawings and other instruments of service with 
those of TERRA Engineering and to advise TERRA Engineering of any potential conflict.  TERRA 
Engineering shall have no responsibility for the components of the project designed by the Client’s 
consultants.  The Client shall indemnify and hold harmless TERRA Engineering, TERRA Engineering’s 
consultants and their employees from and against claims, damages, losses and expenses arising out of 
services performed for this project by other consultants of the Client. 

21. NO WAIVER.  No waiver by either party of any default by the other party in the performance of any 
particular section of this Agreement shall invalidate another section of this Agreement or operate as a 
waiver of any future default, whether like or different in character. 

22. SEVERABILITY.  The various terms, provisions and covenants herein contained shall be deemed to be 
separate and severable, and the invalidity or unenforceability of any of them shall not affect or impair the 
validity or enforceability of the remainder. 

23. STATUTE OF LIMITATION.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, parties agree that, except for claims for 
indemnification, the time period for bringing claims under this Agreement shall expire one year after 
Project Completion. 

24. DISPUTE RESOLUTION.  If TERRA Engineering employs counsel for advice or other representation:  (i) 
with respect to this Agreement, (ii) to represent TERRA Engineering in any litigation, contest, dispute, suit 
or proceeding (whether instituted by TERRA Engineering, Client or any other party) in any way or respect 
relating to this Agreement, or (iii) to enforce Client’s obligations there under, then, in any of the foregoing 
events, all of the reasonable attorneys' fees arising from such services and all expenses, costs and 
charges in any way or respect arising in connection therewith or relating thereto shall be paid by Client to 
TERRA Engineering on demand. 
 

J - 4 -  11



Mr.  Errol Tate 
City of University City 
2021 ADA Ramp Replacements – TERRA Proposal 
Page 11 of 11 November 8, 2021 

 

 
SCHEDULE OF HOURLY BILLING RATES 

Terra Engineering, Ltd. 

        

LABOR CLASSIFICATION 2021 2022 2023 

Principal $234.00 $241.02 $248.25 

Sr. Project Manager $225.78 $232.55 $239.53 

Sr. Structural Engineer $199.77 $205.76 $211.94 

Structural Design Engineer $97.35 $100.27 $103.28 

Project Manager $166.62 $171.62 $176.77 

Project Manager - Site $151.08 $155.61 $160.28 

Senior Technical Engineer $152.88 $157.47 $162.19 

Sr. Project Engineer $146.31 $150.70 $155.22 

Assistant Project Manager $115.02 $118.47 $122.02 

Project Engineer $111.06 $114.39 $117.82 

Design Engineer $90.54 $93.26 $96.05 

Sr. Landscape Architect $170.19 $175.30 $180.55 

Landscape Architect $115.38 $118.84 $122.41 

Sr. Landscape Planner $105.30 $108.46 $111.71 

Landscape Designer $82.23 $84.70 $87.24 

GIS Analyst $90.87 $93.60 $96.40 

Assistant Resident Engineer $168.03 $173.07 $178.26 

Sr. Documentation Engineer $148.56 $153.02 $157.61 

Construction Engineer $96.63 $99.53 $102.51 

Construction Inspector $100.62 $103.64 $106.75 

Surveyor $119.49 $123.07 $126.77 

Sr. Traffic Technician $90.57 $93.29 $96.09 

Technician $72.87 $75.06 $77.31 

Traffic Technician $42.39 $43.66 $44.97 

IT & CADD Manager $99.51 $102.50 $105.57 

Sr. CADD Technician $98.07 $101.01 $104.04 

Business Administrator $118.56 $122.12 $125.78 

Administrative Assistant $67.56 $69.59 $71.67 

Intern $51.60 $53.15 $54.74 

 
Services sub-contracted and reimbursable expenses will be billed to the Owner at invoice. Use of special 
equipment such as television and sewer cleaning devices, soil density testers, flow meters samplers and dippers, 
etc., will be charged to the project per the standard equipment rate schedule, which is available upon request. 

 

J - 4 -  12



K - 1 - 1



K - 1 - 2



K - 2 - 1



Armanino LLP 

6 CityPlace Drive 
Suite 900 
St. Louis, MO 63141 
314 983 1200       main 
armaninoLLP.com 

 

 1 | PAGE 

  
November 1, 2021 
 
Gregory Rose   
City Manager 
University City 
6801 Delmar Blvd. 
University City, MO 63130 
grose@ucitymo.org 
 
Dear Gregory: 
 
Armanino LLP (“Armanino,” “we” or “us”) is pleased to provide the services described below (the 
“Services”) to University City (“City” or “Client” or “you”).  The Services are subject to the terms and 
conditions of this engagement letter and the Terms & Conditions for Professional Services, located at 
http://www.armaninollp.com/professionalservices/MISSOURI (together, this “Agreement”). 
 
SERVICES 
 
We will provide consulting services to the City to verify the funds received by the City are used for 
eligible purposes per the guidelines of the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (ARPA) and other 
guidelines that may be issued by the Federal Department        of Treasury. Current eligible uses of the 
funds include: 

• Revenue replacement to mitigate the loss in revenue for COVID-19-related government 
services 

• Investments in sewage, water and broadband infrastructure 
• Premium pay for essential workers 
• COVID-19 expenditures 
• Economic recovery 

 
We will work with and report to the City Manager, who will provide direction and supervision for this 
project. This agreement is for the period  December 1, 2021 through June 30, 2025 with an option to 
renew or extend as agreed to by the City and Armanino. As part of the development of the services, 
we will work with the City Manager to refine the scope of our assistance, expected timeline and 
deliverables, and budgetary estimates. 
 
Our services will include: 

1. Review and provide feedback on the City’s processes to identify, track, and monitor 
its use of the funds. 

2. Review and provide feedback on the City’s internal controls within each process to 
prevent and detect potential noncompliance, errors, fraud, waste and abuse. 

3. Monthly review and evaluate fund use for compliance with the Act, Award Terms and 
Conditions, Uniform Guidance and other guidelines that may be  issued. This may 
include, but is not limited to, the review of: 

• Financial system reports (e.g., financial statements; general ledger detail; data 
files; standard or queried reports; etc.) 

• Supporting documents for non-payroll disbursements (e.g., contracts and 
agreements; requisitions and Purchase Orders; Invoices; third-party billings; 
capital expenditures for allowable infrastructure, etc.) 

K - 2 - 2

http://www.armaninollp.com/professionalservices/MISSOURI


Armanino LLP 

6 CityPlace Drive 
Suite 900 
St. Louis, MO 63141 
314 983 1200       main 
armaninoLLP.com 

 

 2 | PAGE 

• Supporting documents for payroll disbursements (e.g., time sheets; time reports, 
payroll disbursement reports, etc.) 

• Banking activity (e.g., bank statements, cancelled checks, wires/ACHs, etc.) 
• Other documents as necessary to evaluate the use of funds (e.g., budgetary 

documents; revenue estimates; analyses on loss revenues; citizen/business 
applications for assistance; etc.) 

4. Review of the Project and Expenditure Reports made by the City to the Department of 
Treasury and provide feedback on completeness and accuracy. 

In addition to review of documentation and support, our review may also include interviews and 
inquiries of City personnel regarding processes, controls and use of funds, as it relates to the items 
above. 
 
Our procedures may be adjusted based on further guidance issued by the Federal Department of Treasury. 
 
 
DELIVERABLES 
 
We will work with the City Manager (or his designee) to determine the timing of reviews, frequency of 
status updates, and the nature and type of deliverables. 
 
All documents and reports prepared by Armanino are intended solely for the information and internal 
use by the City. The documents and reports should only be used by or distributed to others as deemed 
appropriate by the City. 
 
Our Services will not be in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America. The Services are not intended to detect fraud or defalcations. You understand that we will not 
perform an audit or review of either the business financial statements of any party. Consequently, we will 
not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on those financial statements. We cannot and do 
not predict results or final developments in this matter. Our fees are not contingent upon the outcome of 
this matter. 
 
 
YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
We understand that you will provide us with (1) access to all information and personnel that are relevant to 
our services, (2) additional information that we may request to complete our services, (3) unrestricted 
access to identified persons within the Client from whom we determine it necessary to obtain evidence 
and (4) appropriate guidance and oversight from an assigned member of the Client’s management. If you 
do not fulfill these responsibilities, we will communicate in writing that we are unable to satisfactorily 
complete our services and must withdraw from the engagement. 
 
It should be noted that all documents and reports prepared by Armanino are intended solely for the 
information and internal use by Client management. The documents and reports should not be used by or 
distributed to others for any other purposes, except as may be necessary by reason of the regulatory 
requirements applicable to the Client’s business. 
 
ENGAGEMENT ADMINISTRATION; FEES 
 
Ron Steinkamp is the engagement Partner and is responsible for quality assurance. Keenan McKinney 
will be the engagement Director and the City’s main point of contact responsible for the overall delivery of 

K - 2 - 3



Armanino LLP 

6 CityPlace Drive 
Suite 900 
St. Louis, MO 63141 
314 983 1200       main 
armaninoLLP.com 

 

 3 | PAGE 

services and will be actively involved in conducting the work as well as responsible for supervising the 
engagement and directing others to assist as necessary. The engagement Partner and Director will 
assign work on the engagement to others at our firm, who may include CPAs and other staff and owners 
who are not CPAs. 
 

Our fees will be charged on a time and materials basis, so the City will only pay for hours incurred at 
your direction. We have provided a proposed blended annual rate schedule, as follows: 

 

Calendar Year Blended 
Hourly Rate 

2021 $170.00 

2022 $175.00 

2023 $180.00 

2024 $185.00 

2025 $190.00 

 
 
Should circumstances arise that are not contemplated by this arrangement (e.g., significant changes in 
the scope of an assignment), Armanino will provide an estimate of additional fees requested and the City 
and Armanino shall agree on the additional fees prior to performing the additional work. 
 
We appreciate the opportunity to be of service to you and believe this Agreement accurately summarizes 
the terms applicable to the Services. If you have any questions, please let us know. If you agree with the 
terms of this Agreement, please sign the enclosed copy and return it to us. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

         
 
Ron Steinkamp, CPA, CIA, CFE, CRMA, CCA, CCP  Keenan McKinney, CIA, CCA 
Partner    Senior Manager 
 
 
THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING THE TERMS & CONDITIONS FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
LOCATED AThttps://www.armaninollp.com/professionalservices/missouri/, IS HEREBY 
APPROVED AND ACCEPTED:   
 
  University City 
 
Date:    By:    
 

 Name:    
 
 Title:    

K - 2 - 4

https://www.armaninollp.com/professionalservices/missouri/


K - 3 - 1



K - 3 - 2



 
 

1 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
I. PURPOSE 
 
University City strives to identify names for regional and local access trails that best reflect the 
significance of a feature and the community it serves, while also  ensuring a worthy and enduring 
legacy for the City’s parks and recreation system. 
 
The act of naming is significant and meaningful. A name can invoke powerful emotions, create 
images  and help to recall history. The naming of a regional or local access trail is intended to be 
a permanent act, and therefore should be approached in a thoughtful manner. The name of a 
regional or local access trail should take into consideration the past, present, and future history of 
the land, its use, and our relationship to it. 

 
This policy provides the City of University City a systematic and consistent approach to naming 
our     assets. This policy addresses unnamed regional and local access trails. 
 
II. DEFINITIONS 

 

A. Regional Trails Regional trails that connect University City to adjacent communities or 
to regionally significant natural features such as rivers and streams.  

B. Local Access Trails trails/paths in parks or contained within a natural area  are 
considered local access trails, not regional trails. The definition is based on length and 
purpose, rather than on width or material. 

C. Major Donations: a donation of property, goods, or cash generally with no expectation 
of return. If the gift is contingent upon a special request, it is made subject to a 
“condition.” 
 

III. REVISION HISTORY 

 

 

PARK POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

Naming of Trails Number: 028 

Approved By:  Effective Date:   
 

Page 1   of    3 

University City 
Parks, Recreation and Forestry 

K - 3 - 3



 
 

2 
 
 

IV. REFERENCES 
 
 
V. GUIDING PRINCIPLES 

  
Historic Events, People, and Places 
 

History plays an important role in the naming of a regional or local access trail. Historical 
context can inform a name by honoring the city, its founders, Native American heritage, local 
landmarks, prominent geographical locations, and natural and geological features. 

 
Outstanding Individuals 
 
The City has benefited, through its evolution, from the contributions made by many outstanding 
individuals. Honoring these individuals through naming can remind the public of our past, inspire 
great    actions and motivate us to become better stewards. Individuals honored through naming 
should have contributed significantly to the betterment of the environment, humanity and/or the 
City of University City. 

 
Major Gifts 
 

The City of University City sometimes benefit from the significant generosity of residents, 
businesses, and foundations. On occasion, the significance of such donations  may warrant the 
acknowledgement of such a gift by naming. 

 
 
VI. PROCEDURES AND GUIDELINES 
 

Naming for Historic Events, People, and Places 
 
When a regional or local access trail is associated with or located near events, people, and places 
of  historic, cultural, or social significance, consideration will be given to naming that regional or 
local access trail after such events, people, and places. In considering such proposals, the 
relationship of the event, person, or place to the regional or local access trail must be demonstrated 
through research and documentation. 
 
Naming for Outstanding Individuals 
 

Naming a regional or local access trail for an outstanding individual is encouraged 
posthumously  and where that person’s significance and good reputation have  been accepted in 
the City’s, State’s and/or Nation’s history. 

 
When considering the naming of a regional or local access trail after a person, consideration 
will be given when: 
 
• The person was exceptionally dedicated or demonstrated excellence in service in ways that 

made a  significant contribution to the land, community, the City, State of Missouri, or the 

K - 3 - 4



 
 

3 
 
 

United States. 
• The person volunteered and gave extraordinary help or care to individuals, families, or 

groups, or support to the community. 
• The person risked his or her life to save or protect others. 

 
Naming for Major Donations 
 

A significant donation made to the City that adds considerable value to the City may be 
recognized through naming. 

 

The threshold for considering the naming of a regional or local access trail will include one 
or more of the following: 

 
• Land for the majority of the site was deeded to the city. 
• Contribution of a significant portion of the capital construction costs associated with developing 

the regional or local access trail. 
• Creation of or contribution to an endowment for the continued maintenance and/or 

programming of the regional or local access trail. The contribution will provide resources to 
support the effort for a minimum of 20 years. 

 
Other Considerations 
 
• The City reserves the right to determine which amenities fall under this policy- regional or  
    local access trail: names should be consistent with our data management systems. 
• Trail segments will be labeled by staff with approval, in a manner that  supports the ability of  
    users to navigate safely through the trail system. 
• Names that are currently in use will not be considered. 
• Names that are discriminatory or derogatory will not be considered. 
• We discourage the renaming of an existing asset. 
• All graphical representations within our parks system are subject to our design standards. 
• The City reserves the right to rename a regional or local access trail if the name is later  
    determined to be inappropriate, incorrect, or offensive. 
• Naming regional or local access trails with a company name is not permitted, corporate logos,  
    insignias, brands, or direct advertising text shall not be used. 
 
Requests should contain the following minimum information: 
 
• Name of applicant. 
• Proposed name for asset. 
• Background/support for proposed name. 
• Demonstrated community support for the proposed name. 
• Identify interested/impacted stakeholders (who will care about the name?). 
• Description/map showing location. 
• Include a description/map showing the location of the   regional or local access trail. 
• If proposing to name a regional or local access trail after an outstanding person, include 

documentation of that  person’s contribution to the City’s, State’s, or Nation’s history. 
 
 

 
 

K - 3 - 5



 
 

4 
 
 

Once the Parks Commission has identified a name, the recommendation will be presented to the 
City Manager in writing by the supporting staff person. A recommendation from the 
Commission   must have either the full consensus of the Commission or have a 2/3 majority vote 
in support of the name. The City Manager may solicit feedback from the Parks Commission 
and/or the public to gain additional information prior to making a recommendation to City 
Council. 
 
Research 
 
It is essential that any name, especially names referencing individuals and/or families be 
thoroughly  researched. Some suggestions for learning more about the history of a name 
include: 
 
• Historic Plat Maps and Sanborn Maps. 
• Missouri Archives. 
• Google Search for online documents or references. 
• Library Search for documents or references (ask a research librarian for assistance). 
• US Census Archives. 
• National Archives: http://www.archives.gov/index.html 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

K - 3 - 6

http://www.archives.gov/index.html


 

 

UNIVERSITY CITY PARKS & TRAILS NAMING 
NOMINATION FORM 

 

 
Proposed Name: 
 

 
Proposal is for: 

Local Access Trail 

Regional Trail   

Location of asset to be named, or current name: 
 

 
Proposal is to honor/commemorate: 

Outstanding Individual    

 Historical Events, Places                                        

Major Gifts 

 

Please complete the following if you are nominating an individual* 
 

Name: 
 

 
Date of Birth: 

Mailing address: 
 
 

Phone 1: Phone 2: 
 

 
   

Email: 
 

 

NOMINATION DETAILS: 

Please explain why this asset should be considered for the name proposed. Add additional pages 

if necessary. 

K - 3 - 7



 

 

Nominator’s Information 

Name: Mailing address 
 
 

Phone 1: Phone 2: 
 

 

Email: Affiliation to the nominee or site: 
 

 
 
 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 

Please include supporting documents to such as pictures, news articles, awards, certificates, letters of 

support or commendation, etc. along with the application. Applications may be mail to: Attention 

Darren Dunkle, University City Parks, Recreation and Forestry , 6801 Delmar Blvd., University City, MO 

63130, or emailed to ddunkle@ucitymo.org 
 

I consent to the information contained in this application to be used for the purpose of allowing the 

City of University to receive input into the proposed naming. The information collected  will be used as 

part of the Park and Trail Naming Policy for Parks, Trails, Facilities and Assets. 

 

Signature:  ___________________________________________ Date:  ______________________ 

K - 3 - 8

mailto:ddunkle@ucitymo.org


L - 1 - 1



L - 1 - 2



L - 1 - 3



L - 1 - 4



L - 1 - 5



L - 1 - 6



L - 1 - 7



L - 1 - 8



L - 1 - 9



L - 1 - 10



L - 1 - 11



L - 1 - 12



L - 1 - 13



L - 1 - 14



L - 1 - 15



L - 1 - 16



L - 1 - 17



L - 1 - 18



L - 1 - 19



L - 1 - 20



L - 1 - 21



L - 1 - 22



L - 1 - 23



L - 1 - 24



L - 1 - 25



L - 1 - 26



L - 1 - 27



L - 1 - 28



L - 1 - 29



L - 1 - 30



L - 1 - 31



L - 1 - 32



L - 1 - 33



L - 1 - 34



L - 1 - 35



L - 1 - 36



L - 1 - 37



L - 1 - 38



L - 1 - 39



L - 1 - 40



L - 1 - 41



L - 1 - 42



L - 1 - 43



L - 1 - 44



L - 1 - 45



L - 1 - 46



L - 1 - 47



L - 1 - 48



L - 1 - 49



L - 1 - 50



L - 1 - 51



L - 1 - 52



L - 1 - 53



L - 1 - 54



L - 1 - 55



L - 1 - 56



L - 1 - 57



L - 1 - 58



M - 1 - 1



RESOLUTION NO. 2021-17 

A RESOLUTION EXPANDING THE COMMUNITY VISIONING 2040 TASK FORCE 

TO INCLUDE A SCHOOL DISTRICT OF UNIVERSITY CITY REPRESENTATIVE 

WHEREAS, by Resolution 2021-12, passed July 12, 2021, the City Council established the Community 
Visioning 2040 Task Force, consisting of 13 members; and  

WHEREAS, Resolution 2021-12 authorized the Mayor, with the consent of the City Council, to appoint 
all 13 members to the Task Force, and all 13 appointments have been made; and  

WHEREAS, the Task Force does not have a School District of University City (School District) 
representative; and  

WHEREAS, the School District has a rich history in the community, starting in 1868 when its first 
school opened; and  

WHEREAS, the School District currently enrolls approximately 2,600 students; and 

WHEREAS, the School District has a preschool building, four neighborhood elementary schools, a 
middle school, a high school, and the Lieberman Learning Center, housed in the high school; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF UNIVERSITY CITY, 
MISSOURI THAT: 

The Community Visioning 2040 Task Force is hereby expanded to include as a member a School 
District of University City representative designated by the School District.  

ADOPTED this 22nd day of November, 2021. 

By: ________________________________ 
           Terry Crow, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 
LaRette Reese, City Clerk  

M - 1 - 2



M - 2 - 1



M - 2 - 2



 
 

INTRODUCED BY:   DATE:     November 22, 2021 
 
 
BILL NO.    9449 ORDINANCE NO:      
 
 

AN ORDINANCE FIXING THE COMPENSATION TO BE PAID TO 
CITY OFFICIALS AND EMPLOYEES AS ENUMERATED HEREIN 
FROM AND AFTER JANUARY 2, 2022, AND REPEALING 
ORDINANCE NO. 7165 EFFECTIVE JANUARY 2, 2022.   

 
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, 
MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1.  From and after January 2, 2022, City employees within the classified 
service of the City, hereinafter designated, shall receive as compensation for their services 
such amounts as may be fixed by the City Manager in accordance with Schedule A (Base 
Pay), included herein, with a salary not less than the lowest amount and not greater than 
the highest amount set forth in Schedule A, and shall additionally receive as compensation 
for their services such benefits generally provided in the Administrative Regulations and 
Civil Service Rules now in effect, all of which are hereby adopted, approved, and 
incorporated herein by this reference. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                    
 
 

M - 2 - 3



 
 

 

Steps 

Grade Position Title  Pay Frequency A B C D E F G H I J

1 Annually $19,423.56 $20,394.73 $21,414.47 $22,485.19 $23,609.45 $24,789.93 $26,029.42 $27,330.89 $28,697.44 $30,644.56
Monthly $1,618.63 $1,699.56 $1,784.54 $1,873.77 $1,967.45 $2,065.83 $2,169.12 $2,277.57 $2,391.45 $2,553.71

Bi-Weekly $747.06 $784.41 $823.63 $864.82 $908.06 $953.46 $1,001.13 $1,051.19 $1,103.75 $1,178.64
Hourly $9.3382 $9.8052 $10.2954 $10.8102 $11.3507 $11.9182 $12.5141 $13.1399 $13.7968 $14.7330

2 Annually $21,365.91 $22,434.21 $23,555.92 $24,733.71 $25,970.40 $27,268.92 $28,632.37 $30,063.98 $31,567.18 $33,709.02
Monthly $1,780.49 $1,869.52 $1,962.99 $2,061.14 $2,164.20 $2,272.41 $2,386.03 $2,505.33 $2,630.60 $2,809.09

Bi-Weekly $821.77 $862.85 $906.00 $951.30 $998.86 $1,048.80 $1,101.24 $1,156.31 $1,214.12 $1,296.50
Hourly $10.2721 $10.7857 $11.3250 $11.8912 $12.4858 $13.1101 $13.7656 $14.4538 $15.1765 $16.2063

3 Clerk Typist Annually $23,502.50 $24,677.63 $25,911.51 $27,207.09 $28,567.44 $29,995.81 $31,495.60 $33,070.38 $34,723.90 $37,079.92
Monthly $1,958.54 $2,056.47 $2,159.29 $2,267.26 $2,380.62 $2,499.65 $2,624.63 $2,755.87 $2,893.66 $3,089.99

Bi-Weekly $903.94 $949.14 $996.60 $1,046.43 $1,098.75 $1,153.69 $1,211.37 $1,271.94 $1,335.53 $1,426.15
Hourly $11.2993 $11.8642 $12.4575 $13.0803 $13.7343 $14.4211 $15.1421 $15.8992 $16.6942 $17.8269

4 Parking Attendant Annually $25,852.75 $27,145.39 $28,502.66 $29,927.79 $31,424.18 $32,995.39 $34,645.16 $36,377.42 $38,196.29 $40,787.91
Police/Fire Cadet Monthly $2,154.40 $2,262.12 $2,375.22 $2,493.98 $2,618.68 $2,749.62 $2,887.10 $3,031.45 $3,183.02 $3,398.99

Bi-Weekly $994.34 $1,044.05 $1,096.26 $1,151.07 $1,208.62 $1,269.05 $1,332.51 $1,399.13 $1,469.09 $1,568.77
Hourly $12.4292 $13.0507 $13.7032 $14.3884 $15.1078 $15.8632 $16.6563 $17.4891 $18.3636 $19.6096

5 Custodian Annually $28,438.03 $29,859.93 $31,352.93 $32,920.57 $34,566.60 $36,294.93 $38,109.68 $40,015.16 $42,015.92 $44,866.70
Monthly $2,369.84 $2,488.33 $2,612.74 $2,743.38 $2,880.55 $3,024.58 $3,175.81 $3,334.60 $3,501.33 $3,738.89

Bi-Weekly $1,093.77 $1,148.46 $1,205.88 $1,266.18 $1,329.48 $1,395.96 $1,465.76 $1,539.04 $1,616.00 $1,725.64
Hourly $13.6721 $14.3557 $15.0735 $15.8272 $16.6186 $17.4495 $18.3220 $19.2381 $20.2000 $21.5705

6 Laborer Annually $31,566.21 $33,144.52 $34,801.75 $36,541.84 $38,368.93 $40,287.37 $42,301.74 $44,416.83 $46,637.67 $49,802.03
Compliance Officer Monthly $2,630.52 $2,762.04 $2,900.15 $3,045.15 $3,197.41 $3,357.28 $3,525.15 $3,701.40 $3,886.47 $4,150.17

Bi-Weekly $1,214.09 $1,274.79 $1,338.53 $1,405.46 $1,475.73 $1,549.51 $1,626.99 $1,708.34 $1,793.76 $1,915.46
Hourly $15.1761 $15.9349 $16.7316 $17.5682 $18.4466 $19.3689 $20.3374 $21.3542 $22.4220 $23.9433

7 Advanced Clerk Typist Annually $35,038.50 $36,790.42 $38,629.94 $40,561.44 $42,589.51 $44,718.99 $46,954.94 $49,302.68 $51,767.82 $55,280.26
Laborer-Light Equipment Operator Monthly $2,919.87 $3,065.87 $3,219.16 $3,380.12 $3,549.13 $3,726.58 $3,912.91 $4,108.56 $4,313.98 $4,606.69

Bi-Weekly $1,347.63 $1,415.02 $1,485.77 $1,560.06 $1,638.06 $1,719.96 $1,805.96 $1,896.26 $1,991.07 $2,126.16
Hourly $16.8454 $17.6877 $18.5721 $19.5007 $20.4757 $21.4995 $22.5745 $23.7032 $24.8884 $26.5770

8 Administrative Secretary Annually $38,892.73 $40,837.37 $42,879.23 $45,023.20 $47,274.36 $49,638.07 $52,119.98 $54,725.98 $57,462.28 $61,361.09
Assistant to the Prosecutor Monthly $3,241.06 $3,403.11 $3,573.27 $3,751.93 $3,939.53 $4,136.51 $4,343.33 $4,560.50 $4,788.52 $5,113.42
Court Clerk II Bi-Weekly $1,495.87 $1,570.67 $1,649.20 $1,731.66 $1,818.24 $1,909.16 $2,004.61 $2,104.85 $2,210.09 $2,360.04
Equipment Operator Hourly $18.6984 $19.6333 $20.6150 $21.6458 $22.7281 $23.8645 $25.0577 $26.3106 $27.6261 $29.5005
Account Clerk II

SCHEDULE A - BASE PAY STEPS FOR CLASSIFIED  EMPLOYEES

M - 2 - 4



 
 

 
 

Steps 

Grade Position Title  Pay Frequency A B C D E F G H I J
9 Administrative Assistant Annually $43,559.86 $45,737.85 $48,024.74 $50,425.98 $52,947.28 $55,594.64 $58,374.38 $61,293.09 $64,357.75 $68,724.43

Accounts Payable Specialist Monthly $3,629.99 $3,811.49 $4,002.06 $4,202.17 $4,412.27 $4,632.89 $4,864.53 $5,107.76 $5,363.15 $5,727.04
Dispatcher Bi-Weekly $1,675.38 $1,759.15 $1,847.11 $1,939.46 $2,036.43 $2,138.26 $2,245.17 $2,357.43 $2,475.30 $2,643.25
Executive Secretary to the Director Hourly $20.9422 $21.9894 $23.0888 $24.2433 $25.4554 $26.7282 $28.0646 $29.4678 $30.9412 $33.0406
Executive Secretary to the Police Chief
General Maintenance Worker
Heavy Equipment Operator
Inspector I
Mechanic
Print Shop Operator
Recreation Supervisor I
Tree Trimmer

10 Accountant Annually $48,787.04 $51,226.39 $53,787.71 $56,477.10 $59,300.95 $62,266.00 $65,379.30 $68,648.27 $72,080.68 $76,971.35
Crew Leader Monthly $4,065.59 $4,268.87 $4,482.31 $4,706.42 $4,941.75 $5,188.83 $5,448.28 $5,720.69 $6,006.72 $6,414.28
Lead Dispatcher - Supervisor Bi-Weekly $1,876.42 $1,970.25 $2,068.76 $2,172.20 $2,280.81 $2,394.85 $2,514.59 $2,640.32 $2,772.33 $2,960.44
Lead Mechanic Hourly $23.4553 $24.6281 $25.8595 $27.1525 $28.5101 $29.9356 $31.4324 $33.0040 $34.6542 $37.0055
Public Works Parks Inspector
Recreation Supervisor II
Crime Analyst
Lead Inspector
Administrative Analyst
Human Resources Generalist
Budget Analyst-Purchasing Specialist
Information Technology Specialist

11 Court Administrator Annually $54,641.49 $57,373.56 $60,242.24 $63,254.35 $66,417.07 $69,737.92 $73,224.82 $76,886.06 $80,730.36 $86,207.91
Fleet Manager Monthly $4,553.46 $4,781.13 $5,020.19 $5,271.20 $5,534.76 $5,811.49 $6,102.07 $6,407.17 $6,727.53 $7,183.99
Forestry Supervisor Bi-Weekly $2,101.60 $2,206.68 $2,317.01 $2,432.86 $2,554.50 $2,682.23 $2,816.34 $2,957.16 $3,105.01 $3,315.69
Golf Manager Hourly $26.2699 $27.5834 $28.9626 $30.4107 $31.9313 $33.5278 $35.2042 $36.9645 $38.8127 $41.4461
Golf Superintendent
Multi-Discipline Inspector
Project Manager I
Financial Analyst 
Senior Accountant
Facilities Manager
Parks Supervisor 

SCHEDULE A - BASE PAY STEPS FOR CLASSIFIED  EMPLOYEES

M - 2 - 5



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Steps 

Grade Position Title  Pay Frequency A B C D E F G H I J
12 Planning- Zoning Administrator Annually $61,744.88 $64,832.12 $68,073.73 $71,477.41 $75,051.29 $78,803.85 $82,744.04 $86,881.24 $91,225.31 $97,414.94

Project Manager II Monthly $5,145.41 $5,402.68 $5,672.81 $5,956.45 $6,254.27 $6,566.99 $6,895.34 $7,240.10 $7,602.11 $8,117.91
Sanitation Superintendent Bi-Weekly $2,374.80 $2,493.54 $2,618.22 $2,749.13 $2,886.59 $3,030.92 $3,182.46 $3,341.59 $3,508.67 $3,746.73
Senior Public Works Manager Hourly $29.6850 $31.1693 $32.7278 $34.3641 $36.0823 $37.8865 $39.7808 $41.7698 $43.8583 $46.8341
Street Superintendent
Information Technology Manager
Senior Building Inspector-Plan Reviewer
Human Resources Manager 

13 Deputy Director of Recreation Annually $69,771.71 $73,260.30 $76,923.31 $80,769.48 $84,807.95 $89,048.35 $93,500.77 $98,175.81 $103,084.60 $110,078.89
Deputy Director of Parks Maintenance Monthly $5,814.31 $6,105.02 $6,410.28 $6,730.79 $7,067.33 $7,420.70 $7,791.73 $8,181.32 $8,590.38 $9,173.24
Deputy Dir. of Planning & Dev./Bldg. Commissioner Bi-Weekly $2,683.53 $2,817.70 $2,958.59 $3,106.52 $3,261.84 $3,424.94 $3,596.18 $3,775.99 $3,964.79 $4,233.80

Hourly $33.5441 $35.2213 $36.9824 $38.8315 $40.7731 $42.8117 $44.9523 $47.1999 $49.5599 $52.9225

14 Assistant Director of Finance Annually $80,237.47 $84,249.34 $88,461.81 $92,884.90 $97,529.15 $102,405.60 $107,525.88 $112,902.18 $118,547.29 $126,590.72
Monthly $6,686.46 $7,020.78 $7,371.82 $7,740.41 $8,127.43 $8,533.80 $8,960.49 $9,408.51 $9,878.94 $10,549.23

Bi-Weekly $3,086.06 $3,240.36 $3,402.38 $3,572.50 $3,751.12 $3,938.68 $4,135.61 $4,342.39 $4,559.51 $4,868.87
Hourly $38.5757 $40.5045 $42.5297 $44.6562 $46.8890 $49.2335 $51.6951 $54.2799 $56.9939 $60.8609

SCHEDULE A - BASE PAY STEPS FOR CLASSIFIED  EMPLOYEES

M - 2 - 6



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Steps 

Grade Position Title  Pay Frequency A B C D E F

P-1 Police Officer Trainee Annually $53,136.00 $55,792.80 $58,582.44 $61,511.56 $64,587.14 $68,969.38
Monthly $4,428.00 $4,649.40 $4,881.87 $5,125.96 $5,382.26 $5,747.45

Bi-Weekly $2,043.69 $2,145.88 $2,253.17 $2,365.83 $2,484.12 $2,652.67
Hourly $25.5462 $26.8235 $28.1646 $29.5729 $31.0515 $33.1584

P-2 Police Officer Annually $61,374.95 $64,443.70 $67,665.88 $71,049.18 $74,601.64 $79,663.16
Monthly $5,114.58 $5,370.31 $5,638.82 $5,920.76 $6,216.80 $6,638.60

Bi-Weekly $2,360.58 $2,478.60 $2,602.53 $2,732.66 $2,869.29 $3,063.97
Hourly $29.5072 $30.9825 $32.5317 $34.1583 $35.8662 $38.2996

P-3 Police Sergeant Annually $75,450.25 $79,222.76 $83,183.90 $87,343.10 $91,710.25 $97,932.79
Monthly $6,287.52 $6,601.90 $6,931.99 $7,278.59 $7,642.52 $8,161.07

Bi-Weekly $2,901.93 $3,047.03 $3,199.38 $3,359.35 $3,527.32 $3,766.65
Hourly $36.2742 $38.0879 $39.9923 $41.9919 $44.0915 $47.0831

P-4 Police Lieutenant Annually $87,037.88 $91,389.77 $95,959.26 $100,757.22 $107,593.59
Monthly $7,253.16 $7,615.81 $7,996.60 $8,396.44 $8,966.13

Bi-Weekly $3,347.61 $3,514.99 $3,690.74 $3,875.28 $4,138.22
Hourly $41.8451 $43.9374 $46.1343 $48.4410 $51.7277

P-5 Police Captain Annually $96,907.60 $101,752.98 $106,840.63 $112,182.66 $119,794.25
Monthly $8,075.63 $8,479.42 $8,903.39 $9,348.56 $9,982.85

Bi-Weekly $3,727.22 $3,913.58 $4,109.25 $4,314.72 $4,607.47
Hourly $46.5902 $48.9197 $51.3657 $53.9340 $57.5934

P-6 Deputy Police Chief Annually $105,582.18 $110,861.28 $116,404.35 $122,224.57 $130,517.50
Monthly $8,798.51 $9,238.44 $9,700.36 $10,185.38 $10,876.46

Bi-Weekly $4,060.85 $4,263.90 $4,477.09 $4,700.94 $5,019.90
Hourly $50.7607 $53.2987 $55.9636 $58.7618 $62.7488

SCHEDULE A - BASE PAY STEPS FOR CLASSIFIED UNIFORMED POLICE EMPLOYEES

M - 2 - 7



 
 

 
 
 
 
 Section 2. From and after January 2, 2022, seasonal and part-time employees of the 
City may be employed at an hourly rate in accordance with the following Schedule B (hourly 
pay rates for seasonal and part-time employees). 

Steps 

Grade Position Pay Frequency A B C D E F

F-1 Paramedic Firefighter Annually $64,481.73 $67,705.81 $71,091.10 $74,645.66 $78,377.94 $83,695.88
Monthly $5,373.48 $5,642.15 $5,924.26 $6,220.47 $6,531.49 $6,974.66

Bi-weekly $2,480.07 $2,604.07 $2,734.27 $2,870.99 $3,014.54 $3,219.07
Hourly $22.1434 $23.2506 $24.4132 $25.6338 $26.9155 $28.7417

F-2 Paramedic Fire Captain Annually $75,563.00 $79,539.63 $83,725.93 $88,132.55 $92,771.11 $99,313.91
Monthly $6,296.92 $6,628.30 $6,977.16 $7,344.38 $7,730.93 $8,276.16

Bi-weekly $2,906.27 $3,059.22 $3,220.23 $3,389.71 $3,568.12 $3,819.77
Hourly $25.9488 $27.3144 $28.7520 $30.2653 $31.8582 $34.1051

F-3 Batallion Chief Annually $88,924.90 $93,605.46 $98,532.11 $103,718.01 $111,032.86
Monthly $7,410.41 $7,800.46 $8,211.01 $8,643.17 $9,252.74

Bi-weekly $3,420.19 $3,600.21 $3,789.70 $3,989.15 $4,270.49
Hourly $30.5374 $32.1447 $33.8366 $35.6174 $38.1294

F-4 Fire Marshal Annually $88,924.90 $93,605.46 $98,532.11 $103,718.01 $111,032.86
Monthly $7,410.41 $7,800.46 $8,211.01 $8,643.17 $9,252.74

Bi-weekly $3,420.19 $3,600.21 $3,789.70 $3,989.15 $4,270.49
Hourly $42.7524 $45.0026 $47.3712 $49.8644 $53.3812

F-5 Assistant Fire Chief Annually $100,485.88 $105,774.37 $111,341.45 $117,201.52 $125,467.32
Monthly $8,373.82 $8,814.53 $9,278.45 $9,766.79 $10,455.61

Bi-weekly $3,864.84 $4,068.25 $4,282.36 $4,507.75 $4,825.67
Hourly $48.3105 $50.8531 $53.5295 $56.3469 $60.3208

SCHEDULE A - BASE PAY STEPS FOR CLASSIFIED UNIFORMED FIRE EMPLOYEES

M - 2 - 8



 
 

 

Grade Position Title A B C D E F G H I J
P01 $8.7500 $9.1875 $9.6469 $10.1292 $10.6357 $11.1675

P02 Cashier $9.0000 $9.4500 $9.9225 $10.4186 $10.9396 $11.4865
Control Desk Associate
Facility Attendant
Child Care Assistant
Camp Counselor
Golf Course Attendant
Park Attendant
Youth Job Corps Worker

P03 Lifeguard $9.2500 $9.7125 $10.1981 $10.7080 $11.2434 $11.8056
Recreation Program Leader
Traffic Escort

P04 Inclusion Counselor $9.7500 $10.2375 $10.7494 $11.2868 $11.8512 $12.4437
Facility Attendant II

P05 Pool Technician $10.0000 $10.5000 $11.0250 $11.5763 $12.1551 $12.7628

P06 Head Lifeguard $10.5000 $11.0250 $11.5763 $12.1551 $12.7628 $13.4010
Swim Instructor

P07 Asstistant Pool Manager $12.0000 $12.6000 $13.2300 $13.8915 $14.5861 $15.3154
Assistant Camp Director
Facility Monitor
Intern

P08 Camp Director $13.5000 $14.1750 $14.8838 $15.6279 $16.4093 $17.2298
Pool Manager
Golf Shop Supervisor
Recreation Progam Supervisor

SCHEDULE B - HOURLY PAY RATES FOR SEASONAL AND PART-TIME EMPLOYEES
Steps

M - 2 - 9



 
 

 
 
 
 

  

Grade Position Title A B C D E F G H I J
P20 PT Clerk Typist $11.0237 $11.5749 $12.1536 $12.7613 $13.3994 $14.0693 $14.7728 $15.5114 $16.2870 $17.1014

PT Court Clerk

P21 PT Parking Controller $12.1261 $12.7324 $13.3690 $14.0374 $14.7393 $15.4763 $16.2501 $17.0626 $17.9157 $18.8115
PT Police/Fire Cadet

P22 PT Custodian $13.3387 $14.0056 $14.7059 $15.4412 $16.2132 $17.0239 $17.8751 $18.7688 $19.7073 $20.6926

P23 PT Laborer $14.8059 $15.5462 $16.3235 $17.1397 $17.9967 $18.8965 $19.8413 $20.8334 $21.8751 $22.9688

P24 PT Advanced Clerk Typist $16.4346 $17.2563 $18.1191 $19.0251 $19.9763 $20.9751 $22.0239 $23.1251 $24.2813 $25.4954

P25 PT Administrative Secretary $18.2424 $19.1545 $20.1122 $21.1178 $22.1737 $23.2824 $24.4465 $25.6688 $26.9523 $28.2999

P26 PT Dispatcher $20.4315 $21.4530 $22.5257 $23.6520 $24.8346 $26.0763 $27.3801 $28.7491 $30.1866 $31.6959
PT Senior Coordinator

P27 PT Paramedic Firefighter $21.6034 $22.6835 $23.8177 $25.0086 $26.2590 $27.5720

P28 PT Public Works Inspector $22.8832 $24.0274 $25.2288 $26.4902 $27.8147 $29.2054 $30.6657 $32.1990 $33.8089 $35.4994

SCHEDULE B - HOURLY PAY RATES FOR SEASONAL AND PART-TIME EMPLOYEES
Steps

M - 2 - 10



 
 

 

Grade Position Title Pay Frequency A B C D
SO4 Judge of City Court (Substitute) Monthly $266.50
SO5 Judge of City Court Monthly $2,523.55 $2,656.80 $2,796.20 $2,993.84
SO6 Prosecuting City Attorney (Substitute) Per Session $512.50
SO7 Prosecuting City Attorney Monthly $3,735.10 $3,931.90 $4,137.93 $4,431.35

Grade Position Title  Pay Frequency A B C D E F G H I J
9 Secretary to the City Manager Annually $43,559.86 $45,737.85 $48,024.74 $50,425.98 $52,947.28 $55,594.64 $58,374.38 $61,293.09 $64,357.75 $68,724.43

Monthly $3,629.99 $3,811.49 $4,002.06 $4,202.17 $4,412.27 $4,632.89 $4,864.53 $5,107.76 $5,363.15 $5,727.04
Bi-Weekly $1,675.38 $1,759.15 $1,847.11 $1,939.46 $2,036.43 $2,138.26 $2,245.17 $2,357.43 $2,475.30 $2,643.25

Hourly $20.9422 $21.9894 $23.0888 $24.2433 $25.4554 $26.7282 $28.0646 $29.4678 $30.9412 $33.0406

13 City Clerk Annually $69,771.71 $73,260.30 $76,923.31 $80,769.48 $84,807.95 $89,048.35 $93,500.77 $98,175.81 $103,084.60 $110,078.89
Monthly $5,814.31 $6,105.02 $6,410.28 $6,730.79 $7,067.33 $7,420.70 $7,791.73 $8,181.32 $8,590.38 $9,173.24

Bi-Weekly $2,683.53 $2,817.70 $2,958.59 $3,106.52 $3,261.84 $3,424.94 $3,596.18 $3,775.99 $3,964.79 $4,233.80
Hourly $33.5441 $35.2213 $36.9824 $38.8315 $40.7731 $42.8117 $44.9523 $47.1999 $49.5599 $52.9225

Grade Position Title Pay Frequency Minimum Midpoint Maximum
E-1 Assistant Manager Annually $81,443.43 $99,768.38 $120,100.91

Monthly $6,786.95 $8,314.03 $10,008.41
Bi-weekly $3,132.44 $3,837.25 $4,619.27

Hourly $39.1555 $47.9656 $57.7408

E-2 Director of Parks, Recreation & Forestry Annually $97,732.73 $119,722.05 $144,120.47
Director of Planning & Development Monthly $8,144.39 $9,976.84 $12,010.04
Director of Public Works Bi-weekly $3,758.95 $4,604.69 $5,543.10

Hourly $46.9869 $57.5587 $69.2887

E-3 Asst. to the City Manager/Dir. of Communications Annually $106,732.23 $134,669.63 $157,392.62
Asst. to the City Manager/Dir. of Economic Development Monthly $8,894.35 $11,222.47 $13,116.05
Asst. to the City Manager/Dir. of Human Resources Bi-weekly $4,105.09 $5,179.60 $6,053.56
Director of Finance Hourly $51.3136 $64.7450 $75.6695
Fire Chief
Police Chief

E-4 City Manager Annually $130,746.95 $168,336.78 $199,454.47
Monthly $10,895.58 $14,028.06 $16,621.21

Bi-weekly $5,028.73 $6,474.49 $7,671.33
Hourly $62.8591 $80.9311 $95.8916

SCHEDULE C -  BASE PAY RATES FOR UNCLASSIFIED FULL-TIME, PART-TIME, TEMPORARY OR GRANT-FUNDED EMPLOYEES

Steps

Salary Range

Steps

M - 2 - 11



 
 

Section 4. From and after January 2, 2022, all full-time non-executive, non-administrative 
or non-professional employees shall be subject to the work week or work cycle and 
regulations relating to overtime work, except as noted.  A listing of executive, administrative, 
and professionally designated employees or positions shall be issued by the City Manager. 

 
1. Department directors shall not be paid overtime nor receive compensatory time for hours 

worked in excess of 40 per week. 
 

2. Department directors may grant compensatory time on a straight time basis to their 
designated executive, administrative, or professional employees for hours worked in excess 
of 40 hours per week.  Such employees are exempt from Fair Labor Standards Act provisions. 
 

3. The normal work week for full-time office, field, maintenance, and non-commissioned police 
personnel, and for police and fire executive and administrative employees, is set at 40 hours 
per week.  

 
4. Hours worked in excess of 40 hours per week, when authorized in advance by department 

directors, may be paid at the rate of time and one-half or in lieu thereof, department directors 
in their discretion may grant compensatory time off also at the rate of time and one-half up to 
an accumulation allowable under Fair Labor Standards Act provisions.  

 
5. Hours worked in excess of 160 hours in a 28-day period by commissioned police personnel 

who are not exempt from Fair Labor Standards Act maximum hours provisions, when 
authorized in advance by the Police Chief, may be paid at the rate of time and one-half or in 
lieu thereof, in the Police Chief’s discretion, the Police Chief may grant compensatory time off 
also at the rate of time and one-half up to an accumulation allowable under Fair Labor 
Standards Act provisions. 

 
6. Hours worked in excess of 212 hours in a 28-day period by uniformed fire personnel who are 

not exempt from Fair Labor Standards Act maximum hours provisions, when authorized in 
advance by the Fire Chief, may be paid at the rate of time and one-half or in lieu thereof, in 
the Fire Chief’s discretion, the Fire Chief may grant compensatory time off also at the rate of 
time and one-half up to an accumulation allowable under Fair Labor Standards Act provisions. 

 
7. The average work week of Battalion Chiefs shall be 56 hours. They shall not be compensated 

for any hours in excess of 56 hours. 
 
Section 5.  
 

A. From and after January 2, 2022, the commissioned police personnel, in the pay grades 
shown, shall receive compensation for five years consecutive City service, with the exception 
of military leave of absence, in their present classification in the following amounts, from the 
sixth (6th) year through the seventh (7th) year: 
 

In Pay Grade     Monthly Amount 
      P-3  Police Sergeant  $63 
      P-4  Police Lieutenant    67 
      P-5  Police Captain      71  

 

M - 2 - 12



 
 

B. From and after January 2, 2022, the commissioned police personnel, in the pay grades 
shown, shall receive compensation for seven years consecutive City service, with the 
exception of military leave of absence, in their present classification in the following amounts, 
from and after the eighth (8th) year through the tenth (10th) year: 

 
In Pay Grade     Monthly Amount 
      P-2   Police Officer   $49 
      P-3  Police Sergeant  123 
      P-4  Police Lieutenant  132 
      P-4  Police Captain  142 

 
C. From and after January 2, 2022, the commissioned police personnel, in the pay grade shown, 

shall receive compensation for ten years consecutive City service, with the exception of 
military leave of absence, in their present classification in the following amounts, from and 
after the eleventh (11th) year through the fourteenth (14th) year: 

 
   In Pay Grade       Monthly Amount 
   P-2  Police Officer   $80 
 
 

D. From and after January 2, 2022, the commissioned police personnel, in the pay grade shown, 
shall receive compensation for fourteen years consecutive City service, with the exception of 
military leave of absence, in their present classification in the following amounts, from and 
after the fifteenth (15th) year: 

       
In Pay Grade       Monthly Amount 
      P-2  Police Officer            $92 

 
E. From and after January 2, 2022, Paramedic Firefighters and Paramedic Fire Captains, in the 

pay grades shown, shall receive compensation for seven (7) years consecutive City service, 
excepting military leave of absence, in their present classification in the following amounts, 
from the eighth (8th) year through the tenth (10th) year: 
 

In Pay Grade       Monthly Amount 
         F-1  Paramedic Firefighters $77 
         F-2  Paramedic Fire Captains   86 
 

F.  From and after January 2, 2022, Paramedic Firefighters and Paramedic Fire Captains, in the 
pay grades shown, shall receive compensation for ten (10) years consecutive City service, 
excepting military leave of absence, in their present classification in the following amounts, 
from the eleventh (11th) year through the twentieth (20th) year: 

 
 In Pay Grade       Monthly Amount 

          F-1  Paramedic Firefighters $133 
          F-2  Paramedic Fire Captains   133 

 
 
 

 

M - 2 - 13



 
 

G. From and after January 2, 2022, Paramedic Firefighters and Paramedic Fire Captains, in the 
pay grades shown, shall receive compensation for twenty (20) years consecutive City service, 
excepting military leave of absence, in their present classification in the following amount, 
from the twenty-first (21st) year:        

  
In Pay Grade       Monthly Amount 

 F-1  Paramedic Firefighters $168 
F-2  Paramedic Fire Captains   168 
 

For the purpose of calculating consecutive service in this section, time served in the 
classifications of Firefighter and Paramedic Firefighter is combined for the same person.  
 
Section 6. From and after January 2, 2022, all full-time employees shall have their hourly  
rate computed as follows: 

 
1. The hourly rate for all full-time employees, who, according to Section 4, have a set or 

average work week of 40 hours, shall have their hourly rate computed by multiplying 
the monthly rate by 12, dividing that product by 2,080. 

 
2 The hourly rate for full-time Paramedic Firefighters, Paramedic Fire Captains and 

Battalion Chiefs of the Fire Department, shall have their hourly rate computed by 
multiplying the monthly rate by 12, dividing that product by 2,912. 

 
Section 7. Ordinance No. 7165 and all ordinances in conflict herewith are repealed 
effective January 2, 2022. 

 
Section 8. This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from its passage as provided  

 by law. 
 
 

PASSED and ADOPTED this 22nd day of November, 2021. 
 
 
                   

      MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
                                                                              
CITY CLERK 
 
 
CERTIFIED TO BE CORRECT AS TO FORM: 
 
 
                                                                        
CITY ATTORNEY         

M - 2 - 14



M - 3 - 1



M - 3 - 2



INTRODUCED BY:       DATE:  November 22, 2021 
 
BILL NO.:  9450       ORDINANCE NO.:    
 

AN ORDINANCE IMPOSING AN ADDITIONAL ONE-FOURTH OF ONE PERCENT SALES 
TAX ON ALL RETAIL SALES MADE IN THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 
WHICH ARE SUBJECT TO TAXATION PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF SECTIONS 
144.010 TO 144.525 RSMO, FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROVIDING REVENUES FOR THE 
OPERATION OF THE UNIVERSITY CITY FIRE DEPARTMENT, AND PROVIDING FOR 
THE SUBMISSION OF A PROPOSITION AUTHORIZING SUCH TAX TO THE QUALIFIED 
VOTERS AT THE GENERAL MUNICIPAL ELECTION ON APRIL 5, 2022. 

WHEREAS, on November 6, 2001, the qualified voters of the City of University City, Missouri 
(City) approved and passed Proposition F, authorizing the City to impose a one-fourth of one percent 
sales tax for the purpose of providing revenues for the operation of the University City Fire Department; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, said sales tax has been in effect and imposed since on or about April 1, 2002; and  
 
WHEREAS, Section 321.242 RSMo authorizes the City to impose a sales tax in an amount of 

up to one-half of one percent for said purpose, subject to voter approval; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City desires to impose an additional one-fourth of one percent sales tax for said 

purpose, for a total of one-half of one percent.  
 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY 
CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS:  
 
Section 1.   An additional one-fourth of one percent sales tax is hereby imposed on all retail sales made 
in the City of University City, Missouri (City) which are subject to taxation pursuant to the provisions 
of Sections 144.010 to 144.525 RSMo, for the purpose of providing revenues for the operation of the 
University City Fire Department. This tax shall be in addition to all other sales taxes allowed by law, 
including but not limited to the one-fourth of one percent sales tax approved by the qualified voters of 
the City for said purpose on November 6, 2001.  
 
Section 2.   An election is hereby called and ordered to be held in the City on Tuesday, April 5, 2022, 
for the purpose of submitting to the qualified voters of the City the following proposition: 
 
                                                         PROPOSITION F  
Shall the City of University City, Missouri impose an additional sales tax of one-fourth of one percent 
for the purpose of providing revenues for the operation of the University City Fire Department? 
                                                  

 Yes                              No 
 
If you are in favor of the proposition, place an "X" in the box opposite "Yes." If you are opposed to the 
proposition, place an "X" in the box opposite "No."  
Section 3.   If a majority of the votes cast on Proposition F by the qualified voters voting thereon are in 

    

M - 3 - 3



2 
 

favor of the proposition, then said additional one-fourth of one percent sales tax shall be in effect. If a 
majority of the votes cast on Proposition F by the qualified voters voting thereon are opposed to the 
proposition, then said additional one-fourth of one percent sales tax shall not be in effect.  
 
Section 4.   Said election shall be held in compliance with all laws.     
 
Section 5.   The City Clerk is directed to notify the Board of Election Commissioners of St. Louis County, 
Missouri of the election and Proposition F prior to 5:00 p.m. on January 25, 2022, as required by law.  
 
Section 6.   This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from and after its passage as provided by 
law.  
 
 
PASSED and ADOPTED this 13th day of December, 2021. 
 
 
  
             
       Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
CERTIFIED TO BE CORRECT AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
City Attorney 

M - 3 - 4


	J2 - Equipmen Purchase - Correct Form.pdf
	Blank Page

	K1 - Markets at Olive Update.pdf
	Blank Page

	K2 - ARPA Engagement Letter.pdf
	University City - ARPA Assistance - Engagement Letter.pdf
	DELIVERABLES
	YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES


	K3 -Trail Naming Policy.pdf
	Blank Page

	M3 - Bill 9450 Imposing one fourth sales tax - fire operations.pdf
	Blank Page

	M2 - Pay Ordinance.pdf
	Updated 11.22.21 Compensation Ordinane and Pay and Classification Plan.pdf
	1. Department directors shall not be paid overtime nor receive compensatory time for hours worked in excess of 40 per week.
	2. Department directors may grant compensatory time on a straight time basis to their designated executive, administrative, or professional employees for hours worked in excess of 40 hours per week.  Such employees are exempt from Fair Labor Standards...
	3. The normal work week for full-time office, field, maintenance, and non-commissioned police personnel, and for police and fire executive and administrative employees, is set at 40 hours per week.
	4. Hours worked in excess of 40 hours per week, when authorized in advance by department directors, may be paid at the rate of time and one-half or in lieu thereof, department directors in their discretion may grant compensatory time off also at the r...
	5. Hours worked in excess of 160 hours in a 28-day period by commissioned police personnel who are not exempt from Fair Labor Standards Act maximum hours provisions, when authorized in advance by the Police Chief, may be paid at the rate of time and o...
	6. Hours worked in excess of 212 hours in a 28-day period by uniformed fire personnel who are not exempt from Fair Labor Standards Act maximum hours provisions, when authorized in advance by the Fire Chief, may be paid at the rate of time and one-half...
	7. The average work week of Battalion Chiefs shall be 56 hours. They shall not be compensated for any hours in excess of 56 hours.
	B. From and after January 2, 2022, the commissioned police personnel, in the pay grades shown, shall receive compensation for seven years consecutive City service, with the exception of military leave of absence, in their present classification in the...
	C. From and after January 2, 2022, the commissioned police personnel, in the pay grade shown, shall receive compensation for ten years consecutive City service, with the exception of military leave of absence, in their present classification in the fo...
	D. From and after January 2, 2022, the commissioned police personnel, in the pay grade shown, shall receive compensation for fourteen years consecutive City service, with the exception of military leave of absence, in their present classification in t...

	1. The hourly rate for all full-time employees, who, according to Section 4, have a set or average work week of 40 hours, shall have their hourly rate computed by multiplying the monthly rate by 12, dividing that product by 2,080.

	Blank Page




